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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of KPa-BM Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Company together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year” or “FY2023").

During the Year, the COVID-19 outbreak and disease control
measures gradually subsided and operations of the Group resumed
to normal. However, the construction market is still faced with a
number of challenges, including competition for manpower, rising
material prices, and unstable transportation costs, etc. Fortunately,
progress of the Group's projects picked up and cross-border supply
of materials from the PRC was restored, which helped to lessen the
lingering effects of the pandemic and related economic uncertainties.

Looking further ahead, construction projects associated with the
Lantau Tomorrow Vision and Northern Metropolis development plans
are expected to be launched as early as in year 2024, which will be a
big dose of stimulus to the local construction market and the
economy in general. Accordingly, we expect that there will be a
steady flow of business opportunities, such as roadways, noise
barriers, building structures, etc. available to the Group in the
medium to long term and the prospects of the Group remain
positive.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my respect and
appreciation to my fellow Board members, management team, staff
members for their hard work and dedication. | would also like to
thank our suppliers, subcontractors, other business partners and,
most importantly, our shareholders and customers for their
continuous support.

The Board is pleased to share the Group’s performance with our
shareholders and recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.0 cents per share.

On behalf of the Board,

Yip Pak Hung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCkL'JrSSION QNQ ANALYSIS
BEEE W R DN

The Board is pleased to present the annual results of the Group for

the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year” or

“FY2023"), together

with the comparative figures for the corresponding year ended 31

March 2022 (the “Previous Year” or "FY2022").

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of structural
engineering works with a focus on design and build projects in Hong

Kong;

(ii) supply of building material products together with

installation services of such products in Hong Kong; and (iii) trading
of building material products predominately in Hong Kong. There has
been no significant change in the business operations of the Group.
During the Year, the Group recognised revenue from rendering
structural engineering works and supply and installation of building
material products as well as trading of building material products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately

HK$568.5 million,

representing an increase of approximately

HK$74.3 million or 15.0% from the Previous Year. The increase in
revenue was mainly due to the COVID-19 outbreak and disease
control measures gradually subsided during the Year and the
progress of certain key projects resumed to normal. The following
table sets forth the major projects undertaken by the Group during

the Year.

Major projects undertaken by
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the Group during the Year the Year 31 March 2023 completion date
R-ZE==
RAFE =Z=A=+-—H
AEEREFEEARNETEEAE ol g O RHRIEH
HK$ million
BEAET
Design, Supply and Fixing of Roof Cladding Works for 259.5 Ongoing Expected
Certain Sports Facilities in Kowloon City completion in Q2
2024
IR NS TRAE RENETREE TIRMNRG #HITH R =F M
e L EE FE_FERT
Structural Steel and Roof Work in Lamma Island Unit 12 56.9 Ongoing Substantially
completed
IRE Y B125R B iEE REIRIRER HETTH A% T
Main Plaza Canopy & Western Bridge Canopy for 30.8 Ongoing Expected
Certain Sports Facilities in Kowloon City completion in Q2
2024
RS TRE RN EESRKERARRE T Bt —
FE_FERT
Renovation of Guestroom and Corridor at a hotel in 26.9 Ongoing Substantially
Tsim Sha Tsui N ~ completed
A5 IE — DB TE 89 & B B A& B T REET
Design, Supply & Installation of Dome Roof Cladding 24.7 Ongoing Substantially
for Commercial Development near Airport ‘ completed
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBS®WE D (&)

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group’s outstanding contracts on hand as at 31 March 2023
amounted to approximately HK$1,144 million, including the
following projects with estimated outstanding contract sum of over
HK$50 million each as at 31 March 2023:

Projects with outstanding contract sum of
over HK$50 million as at 31 March 2023

AREE

RZE_=ZF=ZA=+—H AEENFH
REKRBHDBINAMEESE T B1F T3
R-B-_=F=A=1+—HB& A KEE
ANEBEBSOABETMWIER ¢

Status as at
31 March 2023

Expected
completion date

R-ZB-=%

R-B-=6=A=t+—8H =A=+-AH
REESHEERS0EEEBLNER IR %R T A
Glass Box and Footbridge Upgrading Works Contract for Ongoing Q4 2023

a Commercial Building in Central
RPIR—EEENRERRITABARIESH #HITH —ECFENFE
Noise Barrier Project in Anderson Road Ongoing Q12024
R ERBHRSFERA #HITH “TONFEE—FE
Design, Supply and Fixing of Roof Cladding Works for Ongoing Q2 2024

Certain Sports Facilities in Kowloon City
IR NEERE TRERENEREELIZNR:T - HEREE #HITH “ECMEE_FE
Main Plaza Canopy & Western Bridge Canopy for Ongoing Q2 2024

Certain Sports Facilities in Kowloon City
IR NBEHME THE XN EESRKERARBRE T —ECNMFEFE
Noise Barrier Project in Fanling North Development Area Ongoing Q2 2024
HeaEltERENRSFEEREA HITH CTEONFEFE
Tower Facade for Proposed Office Redevelopment for Ongoing Q2 2024

a Commercial Building in Central
RPEROEEANE RN A ZEEZER HARIME T “ECMFEE_FE

The construction market has been growing steadily due to the strong
demands for residential units and commercial building and also the
Hong Kong Government'’s implementation of long-term policies on
housing supply and infrastructural development. As the Group'’s track
record, reputation and technical capability and capacity grew over
the years, we have been able to tap into a market segment of higher
entry threshold and secure larger scale projects from public service
operators, governmental bodies, and private developers.

With the impacts of COVID-19 outbreak receding, the Hong Kong
government had rolled out a series of business forums and
promotional campaign to attract spotlight back to Hong Kong as a
financial service centre and destination for business and leisure
travelers. Furthermore, the Lantau Tomorrow Vision and Northern
Metropolis development plans will propel Hong Kong'’s integration
into the Greater Bay Area development blueprint of the PRC state
government strategy and will bring about large amount of
construction activities, including roadways and building structures.
Accordingly, we expect that there will be a steady flow of business
opportunities in the market which the Group operates in the coming
years.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBw@wmE D (&)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MERE
Percentage
Year ended 31 March change
BE=A=+—HLEE BoLLEE
Increase/
2023 2022 (Decrease)
—E-=F —T-= 2, Of4)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FET
Revenue W zs 568,490 494,170 15.0%
Cost of revenue Wz Ak 2N 467,723 433,457 7.9%
Gross profit EF 100,767 60,713 66.0%
Profit before income tax b P15 54 Bla 1) 45,301 14,620 209.9%
Net profit #EF 37,147 11,505 222.9%
Profit before income tax KR BT 1S AT e A
(excluded non-recurring income) (B IEE B W A) 43,161 14,620 195.2%
Net profit R (HIBRIEEFEHERA)
(excluded non-recurring income) 35,007 11,505 204.3%
Earnings per share (HK cents) FRRAEF CBW) 6.28 1.92 227.1%
Percentage
As at 31 March change
R=ZA=+—H BobEH
Increase/
2023 2022 (Decrease)
—Z==-= —E=-= #hn,/ Gl 2)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current assets mENEE 477,427 374,996 27.3%
Current liabilities DEE=NE 230,716 148,501 55.4%
Total assets BEE 497,976 402,126 23.8%
Total equity Atk 263,792 247,365 6.6%
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—E-= T F
Key Performance Indices FEXRBFIEE
Gross profit margin ESAES 17.7% 12.3%
Net profit margin 45 R = 6.5% 2.3%
Return on equity 1 25 Bl 3y R 14.1% 4.7%
Return on total assets 4 FE B 3R R 7.5% 2.9%
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—H
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Current ratio (times) REEL R (15) 2.1 2.5
Gearing ratio (%) ERBELE®) 20.8 6.6
BEhERERLXTA —ECCEERS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBS®WE D (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$568.5 million for
the Year, representing an increase of approximately HK$74.3 million
or 15.0% as compared to that of the Previous Year. Such increase
was mainly attributable to the COVID-19 outbreak and disease
control measures gradually subsided during the Year and the
progress of certain key projects resumed to normal.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group’s cost of revenue mainly comprised material and
processing charges and subcontracting charges. The Group's cost of
revenue for the Year amounted to approximately HK$467.7 million,
representing an increase of approximately 7.9% as compared to that
of approximately HK$433.5 million for the Previous Year.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately HK$100.8 million
for the Year, representing an increase of approximately 66.0% as
compared to that of approximately HK$60.7 million for the Previous
Year, and the gross profit margin improved to approximately 17.7%
for the Year as compared to 12.3% for the Previous Year. The
improvement in gross profit margin was a result of (i) the COVID-19
outbreak and disease control measures gradually subsided during the
Year and progress of projects resumed to normal, as opposed to
extra labour and plant costs incurred for idling time from interrupted
work programme at some construction sites in the Previous Year; and
(ii) a decrease in material prices during the Year, while there was an
abrupt increase in material prices in the Previous Year owing to
disruption in supply chain.

Other Income

The Group recorded other income of approximately HK$3.7 million
for the Year, which mainly comprised government grants of
approximately HK$2.1 million, bank interest income of approximately
HK$0.7 million and a write back of trade payables of approximately
HK$0.5 million, whereas other income for the Previous Year mainly
comprised rental income of approximately HK$0.5 million and a write
back of trade payables of approximately HK$0.4 million.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s administrative and other operating expenses for the
Year were approximately HK$52.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$10.7 million from approximately HK$41.9
million for the Previous Year. Such increase was mainly due to
increase in exchange loss of HK$7.7 million arising from depreciation
of Renminbi and increase in Directors’ remuneration of approximately
HK$3.0 million as a result of enhancement in discretionary bonus to
the Directors as an incentive of improved revenue and profit of the
Group.

Finance Costs

For the Year, the Group’s finance costs were approximately HK$2.1
million (FY2022: HK$1.2 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.9 million or 75.0%, which was mainly due to
more bank borrowings were drawdown during the Year and increase
in interest rate of bank borrowings.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Income Tax Expense

The Group incurred income tax expense of approximately HK$8.2
million and HK$3.1 million for the Year and the Previous Year,
respectively, representing effective tax rate of approximately 18.1%
and 21.3%, respectively. The lower effective tax rate for the Year
was because the government grants for the Year were not taxable.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the increase in gross profit and the government grants
and offsetting the effect of increased administrative and other
operating expenses as mentioned above, the Group’s profit for the
Year increased from approximately HK$11.5 million for the Previous
Year to approximately HK$37.1 million for the Year, representing an
increase of approximately HK$25.6 million or 222.9%.

Dividend

On 21 June 2023, the Board recommended a final dividend of HK3.0
cents (FY2022: HK1.5 cents) per share, totalling HK$16.7 million for
the Year (FY2022: HK$9.0 million) which are subject to the approval
of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The recommendation of dividends depend on the
accumulated reserves, liquidity condition, expected cash flows and
working capital needs of the Group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

EEENRRE DN (F)

FR&BiBA

AREEBRAFER EFEDEEMEHFE
XHB2AEBRATTNIIBEES T BEEMK
D RIH A18.1%K21.3% N F [EF KX
YR T FR R AR [ B B 8 BY 1 P sR BT ©

REFERFA

B FE L5t 5 ) K% IR AT #6 BY) 9 32t 4 8K 1T IR K
HQERXEMNEE  AEEAFE R
MBEFENHNSBEETEMELRFE
F#37. 1B EABTT B IN#25.68 BB L
222.9%

IR E
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BE 1581 ARl 7EEE L (ZF
TTHF90EEBT) HAFBRERA
NAEERRBAFARS EHEET - EZK
ERBIDERAEEN R HEE  RPES
MR BEReREREEEST R

RBES  UBERREXEGR

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2023 2022
—E-=HF =T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Current assets mENEE 477,427 374,996
Current liabilities mENEE 230,716 148,501
Current ratio (times) BN T (FF) 2.1 2.5

The Group generally meets its working capital requirements by cash
flows generated from its operations and short term borrowings.
During the Year, the Group generated net cash inflow from operating
activities of approximately HK$4.7 million, together with the
availability of short term bank loans, the Group has been financially
sound in its daily operations throughout the Year.

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by its internal
resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March 2023, the Group
had net current assets of approximately HK$246.7 million (31 March
2022: HK$226.5 million). The Group’s current ratio as at 31 March
2023 was approximately 2.1 times (31 March 2022: 2.5 times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEBS®WE D (&)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total cash and bank balances
and fixed term deposit of approximately HK$114.8 million and
HK$10.1 million (31 March 2022: HK$105.4 million and nil)
respectively, mainly denominated in HK$.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total available banking
facilities of approximately HK$245.0 million, of which HK$199.1
million was unutilised and available for use.

There has been no change in capital structure, except for the
repurchase of 43,070,000 ordinary shares, of the Company during
the Year. As at 31 March 2023, the equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$263.8 million (31
March 2022: HK$247.4 million).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts to equity. Total debts
include lease liabilities and bank borrowings of the Group. Equity
represents the total equity of the Group.

The Group is able to generate net cash from operating activities of
approximately HK$4.7 million for the Year. The gearing ratio of the
Group as at 31 March 2023 was 20.8% (31 March 2022:
approximately 6.6%). The increase in gearing ratio was because more
bank borrowings and trade financing were drawn down during the
Year.

Foreign Currency Exposure and Treasury Policy

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in HK$, United States
dollars (“US$"), British Pound (“GBP"), Euro (“EUR"”) and Renminbi
("RMB"). It is the Group’s treasury policy to manage its foreign
currency exposure whenever its financial impact is material to the
Group and will closely monitor its foreign exchange position. During
the Year, the Group did not engage in any hedging activities.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure
to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities
and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group have bank borrowings of
approximately HK$45.9 million (as at 31 March 2022: HK$2.5 million)
and banking facilities are unsecured as at 31 March 2023 (31 March
2022: nil).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any pledged deposit
(31 March 2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Significant Investments

Other than the investment in its subsidiaries, the Group did not hold
any significant investments during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not acquire nor dispose of any subsidiaries or fixed
assets during the Year.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 198 staff (31 March 2022:
164). The total employee benefit expenses for the Year (including
Directors’ emoluments, salaries to staff and other staff benefits
included provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and other staff benefits) were approximately HK$73.1 million
(FY2022: HK$66.1 million). The Group determines the salaries of its
employees mainly based on each employee’s qualifications, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts annual review
on salary increment, discretionary bonuses and promotions based on
the performance of each employee. During the Year, the Group has
not experienced any significant problems with its employees due to
labour disputes nor has it experienced any difficulty in the
recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains
a good relationship with its employees.

EVENT AFTER THE YEAR

No event has occurred after 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this report which would have a material effect on the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YIP Pak Hung (E# %), aged 64, was appointed as a Director
on 15 May 2015 and then was appointed as an executive Director,
chairman of the Board and the compliance officer of the Company
on 26 June 2015. Mr. Yip is primarily responsible for the overall
management and corporate policy making of the Group's business
operations. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Company,

except ENEERFTE SH(RINER AT

Mr. Yip obtained a bachelor degree of arts from the faculty of
science and mathematics of University of Windsor in Canada in June
1983. He joined the Group and was appointed as a director of KPa
Engineering on 16 January 1993. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip
has accumulated approximately 8 years of sales experience in
different industries from 1984 to 1992. Mr. Yip has more than 20
years of experience in the structural engineering and construction
industry. He has held a leadership role in the overall management
and administration of the Group’s business operation since he joined
the Group.

Mr. WAI Yat Kin (£ HER), aged 63, was appointed as a Director on
15 May 2015 and then was appointed as an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 26 June 2015. Mr. Wai
is the co-founder of the Group and is primarily responsible for the
overall strategic planning, management and administration of the
Group's business operations. He is also a director of all subsidiaries
of the Company, except JENEEHRFTE ZORINER L F].

Mr. Wai completed his secondary education in Hong Kong in 1978.
He has more than 25 years of experience in the structural engineering
and construction industry. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wai was
employed by Tak Cheong (Yau Kee) Engineering Limited as a sales
manager for the department of waterproofing product and skylight
and metal work product during November 1988 to January 1992.
Mr. Wai has handled and overseen numerous construction projects
undertaken by the Group and he has extensive knowledge in business
development of building material products.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LAI Pik Chi, Peggy (2 ¥), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. She is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of both the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Ms. Lai obtained a master degree of business
administration from the University of Manchester in the United
Kingdom in June 2010. She is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lai has over 20 years of auditing, accounting, financial
management experience. In the past three years, she was the
company secretary of OCI International Holdings Limited (stock code:
329) from July 2017 to May 2021, a non-executive director of Larry
Jewellery International Company Limited (Stock code: 8351, prior to
delisting from the GEM Board of the the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) from February 2020 to
November 2021 and an independent non-executive director of CT
Environmental Group Limited (stock code: 1363, prior to delisting
from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from August 2020 to
August 2021. She is currently an independent non-executive director
of China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (formerly known as
KNK Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8039) and an executive director
of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
8366), for which she served as an independent non-executive director
from November 2019 to July 2021.

Mr. LAM Chi Wai, Peter (#h&12), aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group's
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of both the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Lam obtained a diploma in business administration, a bachelor
degree of business administration from Hong Kong Shue Yan
University (formerly known as Hong Kong Shue Yan College) in July
1986 and in October 2010 respectively.

Mr. Lam has over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing in
the timepiece industry. From 1986 to 1995, he worked in the sales
and/or marketing department for various watch trading companies.
Mr. Lam was engaged in a watch-selling business from 1995 to
2014,

Dr. YEUNG Kit Ming (% #8), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of both the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
Dr. Yeung obtained his bachelor degree of science from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1981 and a doctoral degree in
philosophy from University of California, San Diego in the US in June
1987. From August 1990 to September 2004, Dr. Yeung worked at
the Chinese University of Hong Kong as a lecturer and later became a
teaching fellow.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIU Yuen Wai (B2 #), aged 50, is the general manager of the
Group and is primarily responsible for overseeing the management
and operation of the Group's business segment in relation to trading
of building material products. Mr. Liu is also a director of BuildMax
(HK), BuildMax (SZ) and FE N E & E HORY)ER LA

Mr. Liu obtained a diploma in civil engineering technology from
Humber College in Canada in June 1994. He has over 20 years of
experience in the building material products industry. Prior to joining
the Group, he worked as a project engineer and a project manager in
an engineering company.

Mr. CHAN Chi Ming (PR BH), aged 52, is a commercial director of
the Group and is primarily responsible for the overall management of
site works, quality control and work safety supervision in relation to
the design and build projects of the Group. Mr. Chan is also a
director of BuildMax (HK) and is primarily responsible for the
supervision of the operation of the Group’s business segment in
relation to trading of building material products.

Mr. Chan completed his secondary education in Hong Kong in 1988.
He has over 20 years of experience in the structural engineering and
building material products industry. Mr. Chan was first employed by
the Group as a draftsman in August 1992 and was subsequently
promoted to the position as an assistant project manager and project
manager in July 1997 and May 2004 respectively.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Sun Kwong (BR & *#), aged 56, is the company secretary
of the Company. He is primarily responsible for the company
secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of
experience in accounting, auditing, banking and company secretarial
fields.

Mr. Chan obtained a diploma of business administration from the
Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan
University) in July 1990. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute, the Chartered Governance Institute
in United Kingdom, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is also an accredited mediator
of The Hong Kong Mediation Centre.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEEREE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Year. The Directors and the management of
the Group recognise the importance of sound corporate governance
to the long term and continuing success of the Group. Therefore,
the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards and
procedures for the best interest of the Company’s shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. It met all the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
during the Year. The Company will continue to review its corporate
governance practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the rising expectations of shareholders
and investors. In accordance to the requirements of the Listing Rules,
the Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee and a nomination committee with specific written terms
of reference.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Yip Pak Hung is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director and is primarily responsible for formulating the corporate
strategy and managing overall business operations. Mr. Wai Yat
Kin, is the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive
Director. He is responsible for formulating the corporate strategies,
implementing the corporate strategies and overseeing the daily
management.

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should not be performed by the same person.
Decisions of the Company are made either collectively or individually
by the executive Directors and are discussed with the management.
The Board believes that this arrangement enables the Company
to make decisions, operate and implement actions promptly, and
thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and effectively in
response to the fast changing environment. The Board also believes
that the Company has a strong corporate governance structure in
place to ensure effective oversight of management.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the
Board Committees are set out further below in this report. The duties
of the Board in respect of corporate governance are as follows:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the number of
independent non-executive Directors was in compliance with the
requirement under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board and the attendance record of each Director
at board meetings and general meetings held during the Year are set
out as follow:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Attendance/ Attendance/
Board meetings General meetlngs
HERE HERE
EEeeR BRAE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yip Pak Hung (Chairman) ERELE (FE) 7/8 1/2
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (Chief Executive Officer) & HERSL A (77H4#EZE) 8/8 272

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZZT 8/8 2/2
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEBLEE 8/8 2/2
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming HERAE L 8/8 2/2

Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service contract
with the Company which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing by either party.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREBRHE (&)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors had entered into
an appointment letter with the Company which may be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing.
All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re- election
at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance with
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
Biographic details of the Directors are presented in the “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.
The composition of the Board represents diversified background and
industry expertise to oversee and operate the Company efficiently
and safeguard the interests of various stakeholders of the Company.

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They ensure that
proper internal control system is in place and the Group’s business
conforms with applicable laws and regulations. Ms. Lai Pik Chi
Peggy, one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. All independent non- executive Directors bring their
wealth of experience to the Board and serve the important function
of advising the management on strategy development to ensure that
the Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks for safequarding the
interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

All independent non-executive Directors confirmed their
independence to the Group during the Year and the Company
consider them to be independent by reference to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

During the Year, all Directors complied with the continuing
professional development requirement by the below means:

Training course

Directors organised by the Company
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Attended
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Attended
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy Attended
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter Attended
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming Attended

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a policy on diversity of Directors to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and
collectively possesses the necessary core competence for informed
decision-making and effective functioning. In determining the
Board’s composition and selection of candidates to the Board, the
nomination committee will consider one or more of the following
attributes to achieve a sufficient balance of knowledge and
perspectives in discharging the Board’s duties:

- management skills and experience;

- industry specific knowledge and experience relevant to the
Group;

- financial management skills and experience;

- academic and professional qualifications; and

- governance and compliance expertise.

The Company does not discriminate on the basis of gender, age,
cultural and other personal backgrounds in assessing the suitability of
candidates for appointment to the Board. The nomination committee
shall take the opportunity to enhance diversity at the Board over

time in the selection of candidates amongst those who are equally
competent and possess the desired attributes.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board Committees with written
terms of reference for each committee for purpose of overseeing the
performance of specific functions; such terms of reference are available
for inspection on the Company’s website at www.kpa-bm.com.hk.

The composition of each committee and the attendance of members
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at committee meetings held during the Year are as follow: fﬁX/\ LU

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Composition of Board Committee Committee Committee
committees EEZESAR EREEE REEEY FNEESE
Independent BYFHTES

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZZ+ 2/2 (C) 11 1/1
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEREE 2/2 11 171 (Q)
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming HERRAE L 2/2 1/1 (C) 1/1

C - denotes chairman of the respective committee

Audit Committee

The audit committee is chaired by Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy who has
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. The duties of the audit committee include oversight
of the engagement of auditor, reviewing the annual report and the
interim report and providing advice and comments to the Board.
In this regard, members of the audit committee will liaise with the
Board, the senior management and auditor. The audit committee will
also consider any significant or usual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and give consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the accounting staff, compliance adviser or
auditor. Members of the committee are also responsible for reviewing
the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control system.

During the Year, the audit committee has reviewed, assessed
and commented on the Group’s financial reports and results
announcements. It has also reviewed the risk management and
internal control system.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, and to ensure that no Director is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee has reviewed the salary adjustment of
and payment of discretionary bonus to the Group’s staff in general,
assessed the performance and remuneration of Directors and made
recommendations to the Board thereon.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on composition of the Board and
appointment of Directors and succession planning for the Directors.

The nomination committee has reviewed the composition of
the Board and the retirement and re-election of Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and is satisfied that the Board
represents diversified background and industry expertise to oversee
and operate the Company efficiently and safeguard the interests of
various stakeholders of the Company.

The nomination committee will monitor the implementation of the
policy on Board diversity annually to ensure its effectiveness.

The nomination committee will also review gender composition of
the Company’s senior management and general staff, by reference
to industrial and demographic statistics etc., on an annual basis and
determine the appropriate procedures to take to enhance gender
diversity in the workforce as required.

The gender composition of the Group’s workforce as at 31 March
2023 is as follows.
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Number of staff Proportion

e i

Male Bt 157 79.3%
Female Ly 41 20.7%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

¥
3
5
=
f

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the fees in respect of the audit WMEE-—E-—=F=A=+—ALFE 4
and non-audit services provided to the Group by the Company’'s BIAAGZHBME LT EEZSEEIERA
auditor, BDO Limited, is set out as follows: BARARAANEEIREMNTZEIEEZRSE
MERARIIMT

HK$'000
Fee Amount EASH BT
Audit service BIZ RIS 740
Non-audit services FEEZARTS -
Total st 740
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ERVBHRREAENER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge the responsibility for the preparation of ZEEZREBERFEEEENAFEXBANER BN
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the affairs FYBF R MR BAEN S (T - KD B KA
of the Group. The responsibility of the Company’s auditor on the ANEBEFSHRBARENTETHNAFRE
financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent 37Z242E 2B ZEAIRE -
auditor’s report on pages 37 to 42 of this annual report.
COMPANY SECRETARY AEME
The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Chan Sun Kwong, is an  ZN 22 &2 B B4 & IR = o 5t 4 2 4 2B IR 7% £ &
external service provider. The Company's primary contact with the % ° A2 ) & 2 R # M8y = /5 B ik A i
company secretary is our chairman, Mr. Yip Pak Hung. Please refer to R AIMERITH K - EHBEREFBH2MHHE
his biographical details as set out on page 15 of this annual report. RAEFRFEISEZAR ©
During the Year, Mr. Chan has undertaken not less than 15 hours RAFE - RELBERIE £ R BIFE3.290F
of relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the KR TEH#IT DR 1S/NEEHMARE F XL -

Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”).

Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has
confirmed that they have compiled with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the Year and to the date of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of risks associated with the Group's operation.

The Company has developed system of internal control and risk
management for reviewing and maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
assets of the Company. The Company has not established a separate
internal audit department; instead, an external consultant was
engaged to review the Group’s internal control and risk management
system and support the Board in assessing the effectiveness of such
system annually.

Based on the review conducted, the Company considered that its risk
management and internal control function has remained effective
and adequate during the Year.

INVESTORS’ RELATIONS

The Company encourages two way communications with its
investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in the annual report and the interim report which are sent
to shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to
their shareholdings and the business of the company are welcomed
and are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. In order
to promote effective communication, the Company maintains its
website on which financial and other information relating to the
Group and its business are disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO NOMINATE A
DIRECTOR

If a shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) wishes to
propose a person for election as a new Director of the Company,
the Shareholder must deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 27/F,
The Octagon, 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong
Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the Company
(the "Company Secretary”).

The Notice must state clearly the name, the contact information of
the Shareholder and his/her/their shareholding, the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
and be signed by the Shareholder concerned (other than the person
to be proposed). The Notice must also be accompanied by a letter
of consent signed by the person proposed to be elected on his/her
willingness to be elected as a Director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
TREBRHRSE (K)

EERERS

ARFERARA LRI+ D%
AAEFRTEAR FNEEFAERES
EIARABEZBNTATH((RBRE
R ]) -

MRBEEEHABSHE  SEFEAN
AEEEAREEMBE—ERTFIBHE
R o

REREE IR K B b E

EEeAf A NRETEAKSEEL AR
R\ E)1EE M ARE o

ARRCHIFTEABEEREREEHE
A Az 5 Ko 4 15 T840 2 P RP 85 4E ] LA AR PR AR
REGRARBZEE - ARBWERIE
SEAEREETREFT - 2 B 3 51 BB &K F A AR
AASENASEEREREZGE AL
E=eTFHERHENARERMHE -

REBECETORY  ARARRERRE R
RAEEEBERAFENRABRILTED

REEBRE

ARB—EBEEKEEEFLERBE - K
RAEBNFREMTERFR L R
& BREMmERBUX TR - JLER AL
REREARFBR R ARBER - &P 4

ARR] s ARR@HBRSBBALRESR
B - RIREAMERE  AABREM -

BEABAKBRARG 2 W MEMES

BRREBREZZHER

EARBBRR(TRR])ABRSAEZ2ER
RAER RRAKEEAENE ((BAE])
REARNBNBBLIELXWEH QU RE
B REEDIBBEN R FRRTO27E) -
HARBZARAWE((2AME]) W -

BAERBWNBRRAER L Bk
BREERKRE HRREZAEEALIHNE
o BEETRUFIB5IQEMRTZSE
ATOFARE A hABRR (ERERA
TN ZZE - BRMNETANEERES
BATHREE  RTEEEL2RES -

EHhERER-XSA TR CCEERS

21



22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXREBRHE (&)

The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice by the Company of the
general meeting appointed for election of Directors and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

The Notice will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in order,
the Company Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the
Company and the Board to consider to include the resolution in the
agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected
as a Director.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS ON CONVENING AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requested shareholder(s)
("Requested Shareholders”) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Requested Shareholders as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the Requested Shareholders by the Company.

ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available
to the Company Secretary who is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board and
communication relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and complaints, to the Directors.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT A GENERAL
MEETING

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed
at shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Company
Secretary or the share registrar of the Company by written
requisition. Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal
should convene an extraordinary general meeting by following
the procedures set out in “Shareholders’ Rights on Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, shareholders of the Company has by special
resolution passed at the Company’s annual general meeting held on
9 September 2022 to adopt an amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association (2022 M&A"). The key changes
incorporated in the 2022 M&A included amendments for conforming
with the core shareholder protection standards as required by the
appendix 3 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange which took effect on 1 January 2022, and other
housekeeping and consistency amendments.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a business
review of the Group for the Year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages
5 to 11 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group. Major risks are summarised below.

The Group may fail to maintain its reputation and
brand name and this can adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial performance and results
of operations

Reputation and brand name that the Group has built up over the
years play a significant role in attracting customers and securing
projects. The Group needs to provide quality and timely service to
customers on an ongoing basis in order to maintain or promote its
reputation and brand name. The brand name and reputation of the
Group could be adversely affected if its customers no longer perceive
products and services of the Group to be of a high quality or reliable
or cost-effective. This will in turn negatively affect the Group’s
business, financial performance and results of operations.

Any claims or legal proceedings to which the Group
may become a party may have a material and
adverse impact on the Group’s business operations

The Group may be subject to claims for personal injury and property
damage arising in connection with the Group’s projects. The Group
may also become involved in proceedings relating to, among other
things, warranty, indemnification or liability claims, contractual
disputes with its customers or subcontractors, labour disputes,
workers’ compensation, and safety, environmental or other legal
requirements. Legal proceedings can be time-consuming, expensive,
and may divert management’s attention away from the operations of
business. Any claims or legal proceedings to which the Group may
become a party in the future may have a material and adverse impact
on the Group’s business operations.
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The Group’s business performance depends on the
availability of design and build projects, involving
structural engineering works, in Hong Kong

The performance of the Group’s business is generally affected by
the number and availability of design and build projects, involving
structural engineering works, in Hong Kong. The performance of the
construction industry is cyclical and could be significantly affected
by various factors, including but not limited to the fluctuations in
economic conditions, the general conditions of property markets in
Hong Kong, and other factors. For instance, an economic downturn
in Hong Kong, where the Group operates, could materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial performance and
results of operations. There is no assurance that the number of
design and build projects in Hong Kong will not decrease in the
future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE
AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working practices
and pays close attention to ensure all resources are efficiently
utilised. The Group’s in-house rules contain measures and work
procedures governing environmental protection compliance that are
required to be followed by the Group’s employees. Such measures
and procedures include air pollution control, noise control and waste
disposal.

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group include, among others, the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings Ordinance (Chapter 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Immigration Ordinance (Chapter 115 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has put in place in-house rules
containing measures and work procedures to ensure that the Group's
operation is in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.
The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship
with its employees and business partners, and improve the quality of
services and products to the customers. Employees are regarded as
the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group
ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and regular training
courses are provided for its workers operation of different types of
machinery, as well as work safety. The Group strives to motivate its
employees with a clear career path and opportunities for
advancement and improvement of their skills. The Group also stays
connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing
communication with the customers and suppliers through various
channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to
obtain their feedback and suggestions.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 43 of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors acknowledge the importance of stakeholders’
engagement and would contemplate at least two times a year (prior
to the announcement of annual and interim results) on the
distribution of a dividend. While the Directors endeavour to share the
Group's results with shareholders by way of a dividend, the portion
and actual amount of distribution out of profits will be determined
by the Directors having regard to a variety of factors, including but
not limited to the Group’s actual and expecting operating results and
conditions, gearing level, general financial condition, availability of
cash, future plans and funding needs for expansion.

No interim dividend was paid during the Year.

The Board has proposed to declare a final dividend of HK3.0 cents
for the Year (FY2022: HK1.5 cents) which, subject to the approval of
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, will be payable to the shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 4
September 2023. The final dividend will amount to HK$16.7 million
(FY2022: HK$9.0 million) and is expected to be paid on or around 20
September 2023. No interim dividend was recommended for the Year
(FY2022: Nil). The recommendation of dividends depend on the
accumulated reserves, liquidity condition, expected cashflows and
working capital needs of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 139 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the investment property are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group. The remunerations of the
Directors are determined with reference to the economic situation,
the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each
Director as well as their individual performance.

Executive Directors are rewarded with discretionary bonus, which is
determined having taken into consideration the financial results of
the Group and subject to review by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is not linked
to performance of the Group in order to preserve independence.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 45 of this
annual report.

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the Year are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution was approximately HK$40.6 million (2022: HK$43.5
million) inclusive of share premium and retained profits.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During Year, the Company repurchased 43,070,000 ordinary shares
off the public market from one of its controlling shareholder at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$10.5 million. The

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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BE HEIEE LTRSS
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Directors are of the view that the share repurchase would be QT REREAF - BHBLEEBHT
beneficial to the Company and its shareholders. Details of the share
repurchase are as follows:
Number of Highest Lowest
ordinary price paid price paid Aggregate
Date shares per share per share consideration
FR %A% B2 4%
B EBERHAE BRESE BRHEEE BRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
18 January 2023 43,070,000 0.2448 0.2448 10,543,536
—E-=%—H+N\H

All the repurchased shares had been cancelled immediately once they
were repurchased by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed shares of
the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was conditionally approved by the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the then sole shareholder of the Company dated 22
September 2015. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

(1)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to grant
options (the "Options”) to any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the Group,
including any executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, advisors, consultants of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (the “Eligible Persons”) as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
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(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Who may join

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any Eligible Persons to
take up Options at a price calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (3) below. Upon acceptance of the Option, the
Eligible Person shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of not less than 5 trading days from
the date on which the Option is granted.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to
time on the basis of his contribution or potential contribution
to the development and growth of the Group.

Price of shares of the Company (the “Share(s)")

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a
price solely determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of
the option.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Group (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or
any other share option schemes of the Group) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the Listing Date. The Company may refresh this limit at
any time, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue
of a circular and in accordance with the Listing Rules provided
that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group must not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit and for
such purpose, options (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group)
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group will not be counted.
The above is subject to the condition that the maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 30% of the Share Capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.
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(6)

(7)

(8)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to any grantee (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his
close associates (or his associates if the grantee is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. In such event, the Company
must send a circular to the shareholders containing the
identity of the grantee, the number and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price)
of the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval
of the shareholders of the Company and the date of the Board
meeting proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription
price.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Pak Hung (Chairman)
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming
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The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biography of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 11(a)
to the consolidated financial statements. An annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules has been received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the
Company which may be terminated earlier by no less than three
months written notice served by either party on the other. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company which may be terminated earlier by no
less than one month written notice served by either party on the
other. All Directors are subject to retirement from office and
re-election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, any director appointed by the Board
either to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

Dr. Yeung Kit Ming, an independent non-executive Director, and
Mr Wai Yat Kin, an executive Director, will retire from office at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") according
to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors in the share
capital of the Company which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO") (including interests which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Exchange were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares of the Company

(@)  Interest in the shares of the Company

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

EERFTETHRAERAQA
EMABEEERD - HERG R
EEINEZERAR
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MEEGEN ((RERBEEF]) EXVEET
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Percentage of

Number of the issued share
issued ordinary capital of the
Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Company
LER N
28T ERITREZ
BE=x B EEME ZERHA Aotk
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Corporate interest 325,930,000 58.52%
ERRSLE DA
Beneficial owner 32,300,000 5.80%
EnEAA
Interests held jointly 33,650,000 6.04%
HERHE 2 ER
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Corporate interest 325,930,000 58.52%
Bt NAElER
Beneficial owner 33,650,000 6.04%
EmlAA
Interests held jointly 32,300,000 5.80%
HERA 2=
B hHERERZZA —E_=FERE
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(b) Interest in the shares of as associated corporation

(b) REEEER G2 ER

Name of associated corporations: B EEEE
Success Wing Investments Limited BREAREBRAT
Number of Percentage of
Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Shareholding
BE B RntE R EE BERESL
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Beneficial owner 14,332 43.97%
BRARSE BERFEAA
Interests held jointly 14,332 43.97%
HEHE 2 Em
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Beneficial owner 14,332 43.97%
Bk E BEREAA
Interests held jointly 14,332 43.97%
HEARE 2R
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND X Hﬁ%?\‘\zF ANARG REBER
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND NeEBERRXE

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect of a
Director, the following shareholders had notified the Company of
relevant interests in the issued share capital of the Company:

RZZB_=F=A=+—8  BXARARE
EHLHEGRIIENBHRFEZIZRRE
EMAR BALMBREEEESE 2 A
Sh MTBEREMEARANARRE EIT
PRz ERE AR

Long positions TA
Ordinary shares of the Company KN T B R
Percentage of
the issued share
Number of issued capital of the
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares Company
i ERATE
BB BARAZ
BRERBMHE B fEmME ZHEREAR Aot
Sgccess Wing Investments Limited Beneficial owner 325,930,000 58.52%
KAEREBRAF EmEEA
Ms. Lam Suk Lan Bonnie Interest of spouse 391,880,000 70.36%
MR T A B
Ms. Wu Janet Interest of spouse 391,880,000 70.36%
HEE Z+ Ao B

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no other persons had
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the
Company.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 84.4% (2022: 80.1%) of the total revenue of the
Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 51.1% (2022: 46.0%) of the total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 40.4% (2022: 47.9%) of the total purchases of the
Group and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 11.3% (2022: 17.9%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest suppliers.

MAJOR SUBCONTRACTORS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest subcontractors accounted
for approximately 67.2% (2022: 66.4%) of the total subcontracting
charges of the Group and the largest subcontractor of the Group
accounted for approximately 32.4% (2022: 22.0%) of the total
subcontracting charges.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest subcontractors.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or holding company was a party and in which a Director
or controlling Shareholder, or an entity connected with a Director or
controlling Shareholder, had a material interests, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective associates, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Directors of Subsidiaries

Up to the date of this report, the subsidiaries of the Company (the
“Subsidiaries”) and the particulars of the Subsidiaries are listed out
as follows:

EEFREERX
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7
RAERFREENEERSRABERE
B BREZENHBEEFREKRXBAD

0
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A3k R (R BT B A R SR R S 2 BE - DAME
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BEAGERS ARAKBAR (HED
) R EA A EEDT

Place/Country Place of
Name of subsidiary of incorporation operations Principal activities List of directors
WELTEE SRRINY,/ BX  AER%  IEEH E52E
Light Dimension Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Light Dimension”) (the "BVI") Mr. Wai Yat Kin
HHEBRAF (X&) RERKHEE BB REER i)
([ERBELEB]) EHBRAE
AcouSystem Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Trademark Holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("AcouSystem”) Mr. Wai Yat Kin
£ BB REBR RgsE
ZRRELE
BuildMax Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Supply and installation of building Mr. Yip Pak Hung
(“BuildMax (HK)") BE 55 material products and trading of ~ Mr. Wai Yat Kin
HEARRA building material products Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
([ (B8)]) BERTERVER Mr. Chan Chi Ming
REERVER i)
ZHBEAE
BRERLE
KPa Contracting Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa Contracting”) works Mr. Wai Yat Kin
JENEGEBR AT 307 BiE REEEIIEIERS Rhnmrs
([EEhAE]) EARKAE
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EZgHE(H)

Place/Country Place of

Name of subsidiary of incorporation operations Principal activities List of directors

WEAREE SRMRIEH AR KL TEEK Ex£E

KPa Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa Engineering”) works Mr. Wai Yat Kin

EHIRERAR 07 30 REEEIIEIERS Rhnmts
([EHIR]) EARKAE

KPa Engineering (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering  Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa (HK)") works Mr. Wai Yat Kin

ENIR(ER)AERAR 0 BB RELBIRIERSE Ehmgrs
([FEn(&#)]) EHBALE

Sun Pool Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Property investment and investment ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Sun Pool") holding Mr. Wai Yat Kin

EAIRERAF(TRB)) £ Bk FHERERRERR Emgrs

ZRBRELE

ENEERFTES(RY) The People’s republic of PRC Provision of fabrication drawing Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
ERAF (“KPa (S2)") China (the “PRC")

ENEERFES (RI) mEARANE g REtHiERE BRAESE
BRAR (TR CRIN ) ([ E )

Hillford Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Hillford") Bk EE RERR Mr. Wai Yat Kin
EEESERAR(EE]) Mr. Liu Yuen Wai

Mr. Chan Chi Ming
Ehgks
ZHBELE
BRERLE
AR ORINER AR PRC PRC Processing, fabrication, Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("BuildMax (52)") HE HE manufacturing and trading of Mr. Wai Yat Kin
FERE ORI ERAR building material products Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
(T8 (&I 1) mI-E REREE E£33Y 3k
BMER EARKAE

BEr#ERERLZA
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements include transactions that constitute connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions for which the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have
been complied with.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the controlling shareholders, namely Success Wing
Investments Limited, Mr. Lui Bun Yuen, Danny (who ceased to be a
controlling shareholder on 18 January 2023), Mr. Wai Yat Kin and
Mr. Yip Pak Hung (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”) has
made an annual declaration to the Company that during the Year,
they have complied with the terms of non-competition undertakings
("Non-Competition Undertakings”) dated 22 September 2015
given in favour of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
status of compliance with the Non-Competition Undertakings by
each of the Controlling Shareholders and have confirmed that, as far
as the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no
breach of any of the undertakings in the Non-Competition
Undertakings.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of the
Company’s issued share capital was held by the public as at the date
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

Yip Pak Hung

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{85HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KPa-BM HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KPa-BM
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “"Group”) set out on pages 43 to 138, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BDO Limited
BRI EREEHAERAARAR

B M % SLAD W&

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of contract revenue, contract assets
and contract liabilities for construction contracts

Refer to notes 2(i)(i), 4(i), 6, 18(a), 18(b) and 18(c) to the
consolidated financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
revenue from rendering of structural engineering works and
supply and installation of building material products amounted to
HK$563,652,000 in aggregate and as at 31 March 2023, the Group
recorded contract assets and contract liabilities of HK$113,403,000
and HK$55,513,000 respectively. Contract revenue is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation on the basis of the contract costs
incurred to date as a proportion to the total estimated contract
costs, whereas the measurement of contract assets and contract
liabilities is also mainly dependent on estimation of contract costs.
As disclosed in note 4(i) to the consolidated financial statements, the
estimation of contract costs for an individual contract, which mainly
comprise subcontracting charges, materials and processing charges
and direct labour, is based on quotations provided by subcontractors
and suppliers/vendors as well as from the experience of the directors,
which is revised regularly as the contract progresses. Apart from
the above, variable considerations in construction contracts are
recognised as contract revenue to the extent that the modification
has been approved by the parties to the contracts and it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur.

We identified recognition of contract revenue, contract assets and
contract liabilities for construction contracts as a key audit matter
because the estimation of contract costs and recognition of variable
considerations require the use of significant management judgments
and involves estimation uncertainty.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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Our audit procedures in relation to the recognition of contract
revenue, contract assets and contract liabilities included:

o Understanding the procedures and relevant controls of the
Group in preparing and updating budget for construction works
and recording contract costs.

o Agreeing budgeted costs, on a sample basis, to respective
construction budgets.

o Evaluating reasonableness of contract budgets through
discussion with management about preparation of those
budgets.

o Testing contract costs incurred to date and estimated total
costs, on a sample basis, to underlying supporting evidence.

. Testing material contract modifications, on a sample basis, to
underlying supporting evidence.

o Assessing reliability of contract budgets by comparing actual
contract costs against budgeted costs of completed projects.

o Checking calculations of progress towards complete satisfaction
of individual contracts and the amounts of contract revenue
and gross profit recognised.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRAMBKSE (F)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Leung Tze Wai

Practising Certificate no. P06158

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INQQME
SE2HEWESE K

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BHE-_T-=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EC=HF — ==
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E FET TET
Revenue Wz 6 568,490 494,170
Cost of revenue g 25 B AR (467,723) (433,457)
Gross profit ER 100,767 60,713
Other income E b A 7 3,701 1,277
Fair value loss on investment property KEYEZANTFEEE 15 (138) (246)
Loss on disposal of investment properties &R EYE 2 EIE 15 - (388)
Provision of loss allowance on trade 25 R IERREE
receivables B 19(a) (577) (539)
Provision of loss allowance on retention JEWIREE & FTIRE 1B
receivables B 19(b) (791) (493)
Provision of loss allowance on ANEEMREBERE
contract assets 18(b) (920) (169)
Marketing and distribution expenses MZHEERD HAX (1,996) (2,435)
Administrative and other operating THREAMEERE
expenses (52,626) (41,936)
Finance costs B 75 B A 8 (2,119) (1,164)
Profit before income tax BRET BB AT R A 9 45,301 14,620
Income tax expense Fri8Fif 2 10 (8,154) (3,115)
Profit for the year FRER 37,147 11,505
Other comprehensive income for FRHEME2EKE
the year
Item that may be reclassified HEEJHEF7ER
subsequently to profit or loss By EE
Exchange differences arising from BREBINEBEED
translation of foreign operations & =% (1,176) 635
Other comprehensive income FREMZE KR
for the year (1,176) 635
Total comprehensive income FRE2EMKEHLE
for the year 35,971 12,140
HK cents HK cents
Bl B
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREARAREERT 13 6.28 1.92
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R ) O

As at 31 March 2023
R—ZT—_=%=F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=2 FH&xT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment #%% T I i% A 14 13,588 18,665
Investment property KEWME 15 4,434 4,941
Goodwill o 16 601 601
Deposits Ze 19 1,787 1,798
Deferred tax assets RETRIEE = 24 139 1,125
20,549 27,130
Current assets RBEE
Inventories TE. 17 17,705 18,231
Contract assets EREE 18(b) 113,403 90,733
Trade and other receivables, deposits and & 5 & H b JEWFE - 2%
prepayments N IEFRIE 19 220,664 157,518
Tax recoverable A Uy [@ 77 18 712 3,114
Fixed term deposit 7 8317 5K 20 10,125 -
Cash and bank balances B RIETES 20 114,818 105,400
477,427 374,996
Current liabilities RBAE
Contract liabilities SHAE 18(c) 55,513 27,836
Trade and other payables 25 R E M ENFIE 21 122,239 110,506
Lease liabilities HEaE 22(a) 5,489 7,520
Tax payable JE 1~ 58 18 1,608 100
Bank borrowings RITHER 23 45,867 2,539
230,716 148,501
Net current assets REBEEZFHE 246,711 226,495
Total assets less current liabilities CEHAERARBAE 267,260 253,625
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Lease liabilities HEaE 22(a) 3,410 6,161
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 24 58 99
3,468 6,260
Net assets EEFE 263,792 247,365
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFEHE
Share capital PR AR 25 5,569 6,000
Reserves G 26 258,223 241,365
Total equity 4R 5 263,792 247,365
On behalf of the directors RERES
Yip Pak Hung Wai Yat Kin
o ioprd EAR
Director Director
- -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n\l-ﬁ

= N2/

o 38

Z X moR

4=

2B *

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_T_=F=A=1+—BHI&FE
Asset
Share Share ~ Merger revaluation Exchange Retained
capital premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  profits* Total
EE
RAx  ROREr afiRE E4RE EIRE REOEF @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
TEx TER TEL FEx TER T FEL
(note 25)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)
(Wit25)  (Wit2e) (Hidze)  (Wiz6)  (Wit2e)  (Wit26)
At 1 April 2021 R-B--£EMA-H 6,000 33,942 1437 15,646 298 204,902 268,225
Profit for the year EREN = - - - = 11,505 11,505
Other comprehensive income A2 EYE
- Exchange differences arising from ~ — R EENEBHE LA
translation of foreign operations EiZR = - - - 635 - 635
Total comprehensive income FREANGLER
for the year - - - - 635 11,505 12,140
Transfer between reserves upon REEMERERETRER
disposal of investment properties EB(M12150)
(note 15(e)) - - - (15,646) - 15,646 -
Final dividend in respect of 2021 ZEI-EMRERE
(note 12(b)) (Hizt12(6)) - - - - - (33,0000  (33,000)
At31March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R=F=Z%=A=t+-RAEK
ZE-CERB-A 6000 33982 7,437 - 933 199,053 247,365
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 3147 37,147
Other comprehensive income Hh2ENE
- Exchange differences arising from  —HAEEHERELR
translation of foreign operations EHESR - - - - (1,176) - (1,176)
Total comprehensive income EREZANEEE
for the year - - - - (1,176) 37,147 35,971
Final dividend in respect of 2022 “E-_EHRBKRE
(note 12(b)) (Wit12) - - - - - (9,000 (9,000
Cancellation of share repurchased HHERDRN
(note 25) (Hr#£25) (431)  (10,113) - - - - (10,544)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=f(=A=+-H 5,569 23,829 74317 - (243) 227,200 263,792
*  The total of these equity accounts at the end of the reporting period  * ZEREERNREARNBEAREE VBN
represents “Reserves” in the consolidated statement of financial position EH[FEB] -
EhERERZIA —TCFERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

:JF iﬁléE:Uw.Eg %E

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-=F=A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Operating activities REED
Profit before income tax & BT 15 B A i 7 45,301 14,620
Adjustments for: HTINZBEELFE
Depreciation on property, plant and M- BRERERED
equipment e 8,764 10,018
Write-back of trade payables B S RIEE L (457) (437)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE WELRE
equipment Z W = (148)
Loss on disposal of investment properties &% E Y% E1E - 388
Fair value loss on investment property KEMEZ A TFEBE 138 246
Provision/(Reversal) of allowance for BiE (R FEEE
inventories 95 (10)
Write-off of inventories FEME - 5
Write-off of property, plant and ME - BB KR
equipment 2 372
Interest income F B WA (718) (53)
Finance costs B 75 R AR 2,119 1,164
Impairment loss on trade receivables H 5 WA 2 B EEE 577 539
Impairment loss on retention receivables JEBURE & 2 REEE 791 493
Impairment loss on contract assets BREEZRERE 920 169
Operating profit before working capital EEEEHAINLE
changes ikl 57,532 27,366
Increase in inventories FEEM (624) (6,747)
(Increase)/Decrease in contract assets AHEE (M), w (23,590) 35,197
Increase in trade and other receivables, B o REMBEYIE R
deposits and prepayments K FEA FRIEIE N (64,839) (30,155)
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities aHadEEm CRd) 27,677 (22,510)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N E b &S ZIEIE N 12,852 14,611
Net cash generated from operations RETBHMEBEESTE 9,008 17,762
Interest paid on bank borrowings BEIRITERNFE (1,776) (676)
Interest received 2 B 718 53
Income tax paid, net ERNISTEEE (3,298) (9,700)
Net cash generated from operating RETHHBREER
activities 4,652 7,439
Investing activities RETE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E#W % - BE & &E (982) (1,296)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BELEXEZ
and equipment Fr 18 3008 - 148
Proceeds from disposal of investment i %&éﬁ@%Zﬁﬁﬁ
properties FKIE - 21,612
Placement of fixed term deposit FHEBREFER (10,125) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZEFR(B), B
investing activities e R (11,107) 20,464
KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
RERERER (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=RA=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —_E-—
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTHEx FHET
Financing activities REES
Dividends paid RENEEE) 12(b) (9,000) (33,000)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings HIRITRE M ATISRIE 31(b) 116,135 124,764
Repayments of bank borrowings BBIETTIEK 31(b) (72,807) (122,225)
Payment of principal element of lease XNBEERBEzARES
liabilities 31(b) (7,661) (7,804)
Payment of interest element of lease XNBEERBEZNEES
liabilities 31(b) (343) (488)
Payment for repurchase of shares A& 81 % 19 25 (10,544) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) METBHHRE(A)
financing activities RE&FHE 15,780 (38,753)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BERBESEEYH
cash equivalents #hn, CRd) B 9,325 (10,850)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FVzReRBREEEY
beginning of year 105,400 116,649
Effect of exchange rate changes on EXZHERERAE
cash and cash equivalents EEYHTE 93 (399)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRZEEREESEEY
end of year 114,818 105,400
B hHERERZZA TEC-FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-ﬁ
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CRRE E

GENERAL INFORMATION

KPa-BM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 15 May 2015. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business is
located at 27/F, The Octagon, 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, is
principally engaged in (i) provision of structural engineering
works; (i) supply and installation of building material products;
and (iii) trading of building material products.

The Company’s parent is Success Wing Investments Limited
("Success Wing”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI"”). In the opinion of the directors, Success Wing is
also the ultimate parent of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

March 2023 were approved and authorised for issue by the
directors on 21 June 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are summarised below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs")
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the provisions of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which concern
the preparation of financial statements. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment
properties, which are measured at fair value. The
measurement basis are fully described in the accounting
policies below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is same as the functional
currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. Although these estimates
and assumptions are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgment of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately different from those estimates
and assumptions. The areas involving higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4.

2.

RERBHERRME (F)
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AT REHEESEEMBRERERAN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Business combination and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with
those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date
fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting
gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group
may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed
unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments, in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the
extent that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability
are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arising on business combination is measured
according to the policy as disclosed in note 2(d).

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Business combination and basis of

(c)

consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would be required
if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even
if this results in those non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee; and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any
of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Goodwiill

(e)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed including
contingent liabilities as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as an
asset at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment at the end of each reporting period or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired (note
2(0)). On the subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold
is included in determining the amount of gain or loss on
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EREFTHERE @

POLICIES (continued)
(e) ¥% - BERRE @)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis as follows:
Right-of-use for other Over the lease term
properties leased for
own use
Motor vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of 5 years or
the remaining lease terms

Plant and machineries 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years

Lease assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount (note 2(0)).

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Investment property

Investment property is interest in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

For property previously occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property which becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy of property, plant and
equipment (note 2(e)) up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is dealt with in asset
revaluation reserve. On disposal of the property, the asset
revaluation reserve is transferred to retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

(i) Accounting as a lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases
or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of
low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued)

(i)

RERBHERRME (F)

2. EXETHERE@m

(9) HE @)

Accounting as a lessee (Continued) () 1EBERHAANZEEE
(#&)
Right-of-use assets 1EHEEE
Right-of-use assets are recognised at cost and would FREEETVIZEK AERIL
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement BE()VIFA=HEEEN
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting cH(ATXEHEHEAEA
policy for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made BRAEETEE) ()RR BHE
at or before the commencement date, less any lease Bisk 2 AIE M E A E T
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred FOm B WERE (TR T & 22 ¢
by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be (iIEBEAAEENTEANNZFZE
incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing BEA  R(iv)EME ARIEME
the underlying asset to the condition required by the ERAEEHERENBRT
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs PHREBRIEEEERBEE
are incurred to produce inventories. AEBEETRA - BRIEZF N A
DREEFEMEERIRIN
The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings AEEFBERDNES RS
that are held to earn rentals and/or for capital NEAEEZHE L M E
appreciation under HKAS 40 Investment Property FHREEFBLFERFE40
("HKAS 40") and those assets are carried at fair value HEKEYE ([EBETEA
(note 2(f)). The Group accounts for leasehold land and L4058 ) LA A FE AR (BT
buildings which the Group has ownership interest and 2() - ASBEEHEERE
are held for own use under HKAS 16 Property, Plant mZBBEEBRZHEE LTI
and Equipment. These assets are carried at cost less KEFTREEE S EER
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment FI6RYE  BERREAN
losses (note 2(e)) and presented in property, plant B - ZE B ERKAFEEED
and equipment under the category of “right-of-use ZFFTEMBEBERZAR
assets”. (fTsE2(e)) - WA [FEREE
EIHENME  BWER&HE
F 25 o
Other than the above, the Group may lease properties Br baiE o - AREE A RER
under tenancy agreements and acquire motor vehicle EmmDEAMELBEAEBLY
under hire purchase arrangement. These leases are HBEERE REFHEKRUT
measured according to the following policies and BReETE  WRIEREESE]
presented in property, plant and equipment under BRIMWE « BE MRET A
the category of “right-of-use assets” as “other [EmAEaRANmEIRIA
properties leased for own use” and “motor vehicles”. B2 - ZEHEWFE AR
Right-of-use assets of these leases are measured at BEDEXAGTE - EHEE
cost. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the ERERLINEERFERFE
shorter of the assets’ useful life and lease term on a Hisk fH B (ABRAE & A %) 51
straight-line basis, less any accumulated depreciation BE BEFMNEFAHER
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any FRBESE  YHHEaE
remeasurement of lease liability. HEREHGTEELHE -
EhERERL2AF CECCZFEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued)

(1)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for use of the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to
be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a
purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in
the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued)

(i) Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to
a number of tenants. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered at their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBHRRME (&)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are three measurement categories into which the

Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost

Financial assets that are held within a business
model whose objective is to hold the financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows
and the contractual terms of the financial assets
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOodCl”)

Financial assets that are held within a business
model whose objective is to be achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding are
measured at FVOCI. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)
—  Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

FVTPL include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition
at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in
the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured
at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI,
as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment'’s fair
value in other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investments at FVOCI are measured at fair value.
Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss unless
the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of
part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest
income are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets and

contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs"”) on trade receivables, contract
asset, retention receivables (retention monies released
by customers), other receivables and deposits, other
financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt
instruments measured at FVOCI.

The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12
months after the end of the reporting period: and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, contract assets and retention receivables
(retention monies released by customers) using
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs with collective and individual assessment.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the Group applies
general approach to measure ECLs based on 12-month
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2. EREFEHRBEwW
(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (h) €@ T A @)
(i) ZREERSHEEHE

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information. The Group
assesses whether the credit risk on an exposure has
increased significantly on an individual or collective
basis. For the purposes of a collective evaluation of
impairment, financial instruments are grouped on the
basis of shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings. The Group presumes
that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrate otherwise.

The Group presumes that default does not occur later
than when a financial asset is 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for financial instruments carried at
amortised cost by adjusting their carrying amount
through the use of a loss allowance account. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets (Continued)

For investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVOCI, impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve without reducing the carrying amounts
of those debt instruments.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
assets. For non credit-impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at
fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs
are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost, including
trade and other payables and bank borrowings, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest expense
is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in note 2(p).

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the
ECLs provision measured in accordance with principles
of the accounting policy set out in note 2(h)(ii); and (i)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers ("HKFRS 15").

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9").

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

—  provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

— creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

— does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liabilities under the effective interest method. For contracts
where the period between the payment and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i)

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products

The Group has determined that there are significant
integration of different elements underlying a structural
engineering contract and supply and installation
contract and thus such contracts are considered
to contain only a single performance obligation. In
addition, the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Accordingly, the revenue from
these contracts are recognised over time.

When the outcome of a performance obligation in
the structural engineering contract and supply and
installation contract can be reasonably measured,
contract revenue and the associated contract costs
are recognised over time based on the progress of
the respective contract at the end of the reporting
period. The progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation of a structural engineering
contract and supply and installation contract is
determined using input method which is measured
by reference to the contract costs incurred to date
as a proportion of the total estimated contract costs.
Contract costs and contract progress are highly
correlated for structural engineering contract and
supply and installation contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(i)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products (Continued)

When the outcome of a performance obligation in
the structural engineering contract and supply and
installation contract cannot be reasonably measured,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

Contract modification (i.e. variation order) are
recognised when they are approved by customer.
Generally modification to a structural engineering
contract and supply and installation contract is
not accounted for as a separate contract. Contract
modification is accounted for as if it were a part of
the existing contract and, therefore, form part of a
single performance obligation that is partially satisfied
at the date of the contract modification. The effect
that the contract modification has on the contract
sum and on the Group’s measures of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation,
is recognised as an adjustment to revenue (either as
an increase in or a reduction of revenue) at the date
of the contract modification (i.e. the adjustment to
revenue is made on a cumulative catch-up basis). For
approved modifications where a change in price has
not been agreed and other claims, they are accounted
for following the requirements in relation to variable
consideration that the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract
are estimated to exceed the remaining amount of
the consideration under the contract, a provision is
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
for onerous contracts as set out in note 2(q).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(i)

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract assets are recognised when the Group
completes the structural engineering and supply and
installation works under such services contracts which
are yet to be certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by customers. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is transferred
to trade receivables at the point at which it has
unconditional right to invoice to the customer. If the
considerations received (including advances received
from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to
date then the Group recognises a contract liability for
the difference.

Retention monies retained by customers to secure for
the due performance of the contracts are contract
assets in nature. When the conditions attached to
retention monies are fulfilled (i.e. at expiry of the
defect liability period), the retention monies are
released by customers and such retention monies have
become trade receivables in nature.

Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance
with the policy set out in note 2(h)(ii). Loss allowance
for contract assets is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on contract assets are estimated
collectively using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the customers and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Sales of building material products

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point
in time when the goods are delivered to and accepted
by customers, taking into account any sales returns,
discounts and rebates allowed by the Group. There
is generally only one performance obligation. No
element of financing is deemed to exist as the sales
are made with credit terms of 30 days or below, which
is consistent with the market practice.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis by reference to the principal outstanding and
using the effective interest method.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()]

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand
deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Income taxes

Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset
or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k) Income taxes (Continued)

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average rates that are expected to
apply to the taxable profit or tax loss of the periods in
which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (i) when the existing temporary differences
will reverse and (i) the amount of taxable income in those
years. The estimate of future taxable includes income or
loss excluding reversals of temporary differences; and
reversal of existing temporary differences.

An exception to the general requirement on determining
the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax
amount is when an investment property is carried at fair
value under HKAS 40 Investment Property. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these
investment properties are measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of these investment properties at
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are
also recognised directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

(m) Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, in which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Foreign currency (Continued)

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial
statements, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the functional currency of
the Company (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates approximating
to those ruling when the transactions took place are used.
All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the exchange reserve
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
the exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Employee benefits

(i)

(if)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss when the services are rendered by the employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Defined contribution retirement plans
(Continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company
which operate in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are required to participate in a central pension
scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”) operated
by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries
are required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employees’ relevant
wages or income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.
The applicable percentages for the Central Pension
Scheme for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2022 are as below:

Percentage
Pension insurance 15.00%-16.00%
Medical insurance 0.45%-6.20%
Maternity insurance 0.45%
Unemployment insurance 0.70%
Work-related injury insurance 0.28%-0.49%
Housing provident fund 5.00%-12.00%

The Group’s contributions to both the MPF Scheme
and the Central Pension Scheme vest fully and
immediately with the employees. Accordingly, there
are no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
or the Central Pension Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions
or contributions payable in future years as at and
during each of the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EREFTHERE @

POLICIES (continued)
(o) FEMEERE

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill, property, plant and equipment and investments
in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill with an indefinite useful life or those not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they
are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the assets’ carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As
a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill
in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value-in-use. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value
of money and the risk specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss recognised for cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated are credited initially
to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining
impairment loss is charged pro-rata to other assets in the
cash-generating unit, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
cost to sell, or value-in-use, if determinable.

Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods, including impairment loss recognised in an
interim period. In respect of other assets, impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s recoverable amount, but only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised. A reversal of such impairment is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on those
assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(r)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a contract
under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the
lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of continuing with the contract.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive directors for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Government grants

(t)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
(including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable and are recognised
as other revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the

difference between proceeds received and the fair value of
the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner,
and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs — effective on
1 April 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amendments and interpretations to
the standards issued by the HKICPA, which are potentially
relevant to and effective for the Group’'s financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2022.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 9
to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Financial Instruments

and Amendments to
Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16
Leases

The adoption of these revised HKFRSs did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies or
financial results and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(b) New or revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by

the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HK
Interpretation 5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSS
(Continued)

(b) New or revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 1 require material accounting policy
information to be disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements rather than significant accounting policies and
provide additional guidance in deciding which accounting
policies should be disclosed. HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 require entity to recognise
deferred tax on particular transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable
and deductible temporary differences. The proposed
amendments will typically apply to transactions such as
leases for the lessee and decommissioning obligations.
According to the amended guidance, a temporary
difference that arises on initial recognition of an asset or
liability is not subject to the initial recognition exemption if
that transaction gave rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of the
relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s
accounting policy for the first period beginning after the
effective date of the pronouncement. The directors are
currently assessing the possible effect of these new or
revised standards on the Group’s results and financial
position in the first year of application. Except for the
above amendments which may result in significant changes
in disclosures for accounting policies in the consolidated
financial statements, other new or revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective are unlikely to
have material impact on the Group’s results and financial
position upon application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Construction contracts

Construction contract revenue is recognised over time by
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation on the basis of the contract
costs incurred to date as a proportion to total estimated
contract costs, which is the input method under HKFRS
15. Contract assets and contract liabilities are determined
based on contract costs incurred, progress billings, any
foreseeable losses and recognised profit which is also
dependent on estimation of contract costs. The recognition
of contract revenue and contract assets/contract liabilities
requires significant management judgment and involves
estimation uncertainty. Estimated contract costs of
individual contract, which mainly comprise subcontracting
charges, cost of materials and processing charges and costs
of direct labour, are supported by contract budget which
was prepared by the directors of the Company on the basis
of estimated subcontracting charges, cost of materials
and processing charges, and costs of direct labour based
on quotations provided by subcontractors and suppliers/
vendors as well as from the experience of the directors. In
order to ensure that the total estimated contract costs are
accurate and up-to-date such that contract revenue can
be estimated reliably, management reviews the contract
budget, costs incurred to date and costs to completion
regularly, in particular in the case of costs over-runs, and
revises the estimated contract costs where necessary.
For the purpose of updating the contract budget, the
management may request for updated quotations from
counterparties. Recognition of variations and claims also
requires estimation and judgment by the management,
particularly in assessing whether it is highly probable that
a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognised
will not occur. In this assessment, management takes into
account the up-to-date exchange with customers and past
experience with similar contracts. Notwithstanding that the
management regularly reviews and revises contract budgets
when those construction contracts progressed, the actual
contract costs and gross profit margin achieved may be
higher or lower than the estimates and that will affect the
revenue and gross profit recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 4, EXSFHERMAETTRE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION PR E B RR
UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) fti 5T THEE M B £ B 2RIR (30)
(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (i) THEEREGHNEEHRE
The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 *E%%?%Eji‘%i&%ﬁ@%%ﬁ%ﬁ
across certain categories of financial assets (i.e. trade T3 /DJ/'J\ﬁ Eﬂﬁ% (R E %}FEL& o
receivables), contract assets and retention receivables IE) ) ?f’gﬁfa&%”ﬂ%%%?ﬁﬁ
require significant judgment and estimation, in particular, Eﬁfﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁi Efﬁ{fﬂjijgﬂlﬁf&@
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash &t **’Dj!ig%iﬁ\@@%*ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
flows when determining impairment losses and the %%Iﬁim%gﬁff\%ﬁiﬁaﬁﬁfxg
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These AT 1515 flﬁl&ﬁmé%ﬁ% e Eig
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in 135"'5\;15\/%*&@1 ’D% kL L
which can result in different levels of allowances. A B BURIEL T RAZE 2 B -
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses E/\\%iﬁ%ﬁﬂ;ﬁ ' Z'S%H%ZE@%E
whether there has been a significant increase in credit E+¢:Hﬁfq %‘%Z}EZ’}@ »"H%Etlz
risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing % ' Mﬁﬁ%‘%ﬂﬂﬁﬁ@*%%f 2
the risk of default occurring over the expected life. The ﬁfﬁﬁéﬁﬁ\‘ﬁ%m ¢ ﬁ%ﬁﬁt\f‘i%
Group considers reasonable and supportable information E*HEE&%%1¢E$EQW§%ﬁﬁ
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort Hji“:fzf fiﬂ;ﬁ%\ﬂ P ER e
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative EE&/E\E%’%@&JJ Tjgﬁﬁfﬂ»‘%
information and analysis, based on the Group's historical B2 8 A BR A e B AT ) A
experience and existing marketing conditions as well as AU BEAEE R -

forward-looking information.

As at 31 March 2023, the accumulated loss allowance of ﬁé:;ﬁ:zizﬂ =+—B &%
contract assets, trade receivables and retention receivables ﬁé; B 5 B U OE R R NUIRE @
was HK$2,519,000 (2022: HK$1,599,000), HK$ 1,641,000 2 R&t BB A M D Bl /R2,519,000
(2022: HK$1,064,000) and HK$2,863,000 (2022: BT (=% = — 4 : 1,599,000/
HK$2,072,000) respectively. 7T) ~ 1,641,000 T (ZE =4 :

1,064,000/ 7T) 52,863,000/ 7T
ZE 4 :2,072,00087T) °

(iii) Fair value of investment property (iii) REYRH A F1E
The fair values of the Group’s investment property were ARENREYRDFEHRER
determined by management with reference to valuation @’2%@3%%%@%3@&9@%@
carried out by independent professional valuers. Such Mz - BREEDLRES TRHRRK
valuations were based on certain assumptions which are fEH - BRERER X TR FR
subject to uncertainty and might differ from the actual 2 %ﬁzﬁiﬁgfﬁig%%zvﬁ#ﬁgf/ﬁ
results. In making the estimates, management considers #%’J@ﬁﬁfr ' ”é:@%}?ﬁ?%ﬂ;%m%i
information from current prices in an active market for iﬁif&%%é’\jfﬁﬁ{%$§: b F| A I%ﬂé
similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly ﬁﬁﬁéafﬁﬁm%%ﬁﬁﬂj i) 2 %
based on market conditions existing at the valuation date. B E R
Please refer to note 15 for more detailed information ﬁ%@fﬁﬁ%%?iﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ
in relation to the fair value measurement of investment 1% - w2 BHEE5 -
property.

EHhERER-XSA TR CCEERS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. 7 HER

(a) Operating segment information (a) K& EHEHR

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker,
i.e. executive directors of the Company who make strategic
decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments
are managed separately as each business offers different
products and services and requires different business
strategies. The following summary describes the operations
in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Structural Engineering — This segment mainly engages
Works in provision of structural
engineering works for the
public and private sectors in
Hong Kong and the Group
mainly acts as a subcontractor.

Supply and Installation — This segment engages in supply
of Building Material of building material products
Products with installation services

provided in Hong Kong.

Trading of Building — This segment mainly engages
Material Products in sales of building material
products to third-party
customers in Hong Kong.

Revenue and costs/expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the costs/expenses incurred by those
segments. Corporate income and expenses are not allocated
to the operating segments as they are not included in the
measure of the segments’ profit or loss that is used by the
chief operating decision-marker for assessment of segment
performance.

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of
tax assets and corporate assets, including cash and bank
balances, investment properties and other assets that are
not directly attributable to the business activities of the
operating segments as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Information of the operating segments of the Group
reported to the chief operating decision-maker for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment does not include liabilities. Accordingly, no
information of segment liabilities is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MK ERME (H)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2 HEHR @)
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) & 5 HE R (1)
Segment results, segment assets and other DEEE PEHEEREM
segment information 7 EEH

BRAEERZ2HOMZEN B
BRI 2moalE  28EMN 2
MEE - W BRATE B ADE M &
REEZHRAREM D FEE RN

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
including the reportable segment revenue, segment profit,
segment assets, reconciliations to revenue, profit before
income tax and total assets and other segment information

are as follows: S8
Supply and
Installation  Trading of
Structural  of Building Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Total
EEIR #HERZ# BEEEMN
T EMER Em #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THR TERT TER
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_ZE-=#=H4
Zt-HAULFE
Segment revenue b4 &
Sales to external customers HIHNEEP 2 HE 521,065 42,587 4,838 568,490
Intersegment sales S ERHE - 122 1,539 1,661
521,065 42,709 6,377 570,151
Elimination of intersegment sales o EEHE 2 M (1,661)
568,490
Segment profit D EEF 80,161 14,114 2,253 96,528
Corporate and unallocated income PERRIERA 3,701
Fair value loss on investment property &% 7 A TEEE (138)
Corporate and unallocated expenses ™% K KD EFI X
- Marketing and distribution — MHHEERS H
expenses 53 (325)
— Administrative and other — THRREMEE
operating expenses* S * (52,346)
— Finance costs — BIRERR (2,119)
Profit before income tax B BT 15 %54 Al s 7 45,301
EHh#ZERERALLA CECCFERE 87
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEHRRMET (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Operating segment information (Continued)

Segment results, segment assets and other

5. 2&E R @)
(a) K& EEF (@)

D EFRERAM

7 BPF A

segment information (Continued) D EBER ()
Supply and
Installation Trading
Structural  of Building  of Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Tota
BEIR HERTE BEEM
I# BMEM EE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT TAT FAT
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-E--f#=4
Ztr-HULFE
Segment revenue 7B
Sales to external customers HINIRFEZHE 466,637 21,588 5,945 494,170
Intersegment sales D EEHE - 4 3,462 3,466
466,637 21,592 9,407 497,636
Elimination of intersegment sales DEEEE 2 M (3,466)
494,170
Segment profit BEBEF 47,098 7,672 3,369 58,139
Corporate and unallocated income CERRABEKA 1,277
Fair value loss on investment property % &M% 2 A FEBE (246)
Loss on disposal of investment HEREMEZEE
properties (388)
Corporate and unallocated expenses ¥ RADAH X
- Marketing and distribution — MHHEERS H
expenses 53 (1,613)
- Administrative and other — THRREMEE
operating expenses* L (41,385)
~ Finance costs — BB (1,164)
Profit before income tax BT SR ALE R 14,620

* Administrative and other operating expenses mainly comprise
employee costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment and legal and professional fees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REMBEHERME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. ZEER @
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) KEFTER (@)
Segment results, segment assets and other DHEE DEEEREM
segment information (Continued) D EBER ()
Supply and
Installation Trading
Structural of Building of Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Total
EEIRE MHERRE BEHEM
I EMER Em et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET THERT THET
As at 31 March 2023 R-g—-=#
=ZA=+-H
Segment assets DEHEE 342,856 17,867 1,655 362,378
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERSE 185
Investment property BEYE 4,434
Tax assets HMBEAE 851
Fixed term deposit EHER 10,125
Cash and bank balances Re MR1THE 114,818
Other corporate assets Hin A E 5,185
Total consolidated assets REEEHRE 497,976
Supply and
Installation Trading
Structural  of Building  of Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Total
EEIRE HERRE BEEEMN
Tk BMER E o mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET FHET FHET
As at 31 March 2022 R-E—-—F
=ZA=+-H
Segment assets PEHEE 272,565 7,869 2,159 282,593
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE &R 296
Investment property BEYE 4,941
Tax assets HEEE 4,239
Cash and bank balances e RBTES 105,400
Other corporate assets HihbEEE 4,657
Total consolidated assets BAEBEEMARE 402,126
EhiERAERLZA —E_-EERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MR RME (H)

than deferred tax assets and deposits.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. ZEER @
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) & o5 HE R (1)
Segment results, segment assets and other DEBEE D EEERAM
segment information (Continued) D EEEF (')
Supply
and
Installation Trading
Structural  of Building  of Building
Engineering Material Material ~ Corporate/
Works Products Products Unallocated Total
EBIE MHERZE BEEM g/
I EMER Em RAE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THER THERT THER THER
Year ended 31 March 2023 HBE-ZE-=#£=f
Zt-HULFE
Other information BEMEH
Interest income FEWA - - - 718 718
Interest expense FEHY - - - 2,119 2,119
Depreciation e 8,635 16 2 1M 8,764
Write down of inventories FEMR - 2 93 - 95
Impairment loss on trade B HRNHIB L RE
receivables [RE! 492 85 - - 577
Impairment loss on retention BURREE ZHE
receivables gl 770 21 - - 791
Impairment loss on contract assets &4 AE 2 REFRE 904 16 - - 920
Additions to specified RERTHRDEE
non-current assets* 3,189 - - 982 417
Year ended 31 March 2022 HBE-E-_#=4
Zt-HULFE
Other information BEMEH
Interest income FEWA - - - 53 53
Interest expense FlBY - - - 1,164 1,164
Depreciation e 9,891 11 5 1 10,018
Write down/(up) on inventories — Z &R/ (A1) - 2 (7) - (5)
Impairment loss on trade B HRENFIE L RE
receivables BB 502 37 - - 539
Impairment loss on retention EREZREZHE
receivables BB 483 10 - - 493
Impairment loss on contract assets A 414 & 7 BB & B 150 19 - - 169
Additions to specified RERTIERDEE
non-current assets* 9,543 - - 1,296 10,839
# Specific non-current assets represent non-current assets other # HERDEERRBETHIEEE

RBEINZERBEE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Geographical segment information

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group's operations are in Hong Kong.
Accordingly, management determines that the Group is
domiciled in Hong Kong.

The following table provides analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers, determined based on
location of the customers:

5.

o EER @)
(b) b E 7 P&

ARBB—FREZBRRE - MA
SENTELLMBTDUNEE -
At EREREAEENEER

HE# -

TRERAKERE P2 EE X
KEINBEP WD

2023 2022

—E-= —EF- -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Hong Kong a5 568,490 494,010
The PRC s = 160
568,490 494,170

An analysis of the Group’s specified non-current assets,
excluding deferred tax assets, and deposits, by geographical
locations, determined based on physical location of the
assets is as follows:

AEEZEETRIMHETNSTE
FRBEE (MBRETHEEE R
Be) RMBEMEZ NI -

2023 2022
—E-=HE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Hong Kong aBE 9,526 12,916
The PRC h 9,097 11,291
18,623 24,207
EhERER-ZI TR CCEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2 & # @
(c) Information about major customers (c) EEFXTEEF2EHR

Revenue from major customers, each of them accounted for X{EZIKE B zR10%s A EREZE

10% or more of the Group’s revenue, are set out below: 2RI
2023 2022

—E_-= —EF- -

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Customer A Z2EA 290,331 74,275
Customer B =B 102,233 227,181

Revenue from Customer A for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022 was generated for the Structural
Engineering Works segment whereas revenue from
Customer B for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 was generated for the Structural Engineering Works

BE_ZT_—Fh_FT__F=

A=+ —BLEFERBEEFARNIK
REEBEBIREIES  ME
EZE_FR-E-__F=ZA

=+t HLEFERBEFEFPBH N

and Supply and Installation of Building Material Products EXEEBIRBIEUREERE
segments. EEMERDI -
6. REVENUE 6. Wz
The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of structural ANEBFEHEG)IRME \,D%I%il{"ﬁ (i)
engineering works; (i) supply and installation of building HERZEEMELR RINEEEM
material products; and (iii) trading of building material products. Em - WRzIRENHSETEEL I8
Revenue derived from these principal activities comprises the HEATRIE:
following:
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers HFFE &KW
Revenue recognised over time: BE B B RR 2 I as
- Structural engineering works — HEBIEIE 521,065 466,637
- Supply and installation of building — HEMNTEEMER
material products 42,587 21,588
Revenue recognised at a point in time: LR B R 2 W
- Trading of building material products — BEEREMEM 4,838 5,945
568,490 494,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE (continued)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
the provision of construction works, which represents the
aggregate amount of the consideration the Group is entitled
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the
Group's contracts of construction works existed at the end of
the reporting period, is summarised as follows:

RERBHERRME (F)

U %= (@)

B R ARERNERERETREES
Hlies  BIASE A ESHRERED
ETASREEREPRGFLENERTE
BRRBHBHRES - ST

2023 2022
—E-=5F —=E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&T TH&T

- Structural engineering works L ﬁ*T%I?‘r”I{/E 1,081,517 1,095,519
— Supply and installation of building — HERLTEEME®D

material products 62,509 39,073

1,144,026 1,134,592

The Group will recognise the expected revenue arising from its
existing contracts of construction work in future as the project
work is progressed, which is expected to occur over the next 1
to 27 months (2022: 1 to 36 months).

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts for trading of building material products and therefore
the above information does not include revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligation under the contracts for trading of building material
products that had an original expected duration of one year or
less.

AEBEBBEEEE TEMNE J?&(T,Euﬂ—r
EARAR—Z2E+EEBA(ZZE==
—K_‘f'/dlﬂ)ﬁﬂéi)ﬁﬁmﬁﬁfﬁ
BEREIRAHNBHIUE -

AEBEHESEMERNBEEA R
AEREE DL Bt L ENT A8
BEASBERBTREFERELS —F
FFERZEBEEMEMB KA TR
BHR TR ERESHNRES -

BEr#ERERLZA T oZFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEHRRMET (F)

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HWA
2023 2022
—E-=F =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank interest income AT H B WA 718 53
Rental income He WA 180 475
Government grants (note) BT 8 Bh (B 22) 2,140 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE MK E
equipment pa & = 148
Write-back of trade payables B EE 5 e IR 457 437
Others H iy 206 164
3,701 1,277
Note: Hiat
For the year ended 31 March 2023, government grants included subsidies REBE-_Z_=ZF=ZA=Z1+—BLFE BN
of HK$2,064,000 obtained from the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS") HHEEEESFERBNHERERES TH#
under the Anti-epidemic Fund which is launched by the Hong Kong SAR HE TR EIHE ((RMESE ) ESHEAL
Government for supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees (2022: nil). 2,064,000 T (ZZE = —F &) - LB K
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on payroll EEINEENGS - BERMETE K&
expenses, and not reduce employee head count below prescribed levels for a ENBAGEEZSHANINHS - WEE
specified period of time. EREATEHEB ABBERERTEKRKFEUT ©
The remaining amount of HK$76,000 mainly represented the subsidy #HTH76,0008 T (T - —F &)X BRI
obtained from the PRC government which aims to relief the impact of B EBAFESEE - §ERE20198 K%
outbreak of COVID-19 for small-medium size enterprises (2022: nil). The SHEBHPNEHTE  AEBBMERZS
Group does not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to these programs. HEEHEMEMREKRNEE -
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MR
2023 2022
—EgE=-= —_F_-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Interest on bank borrowings RITHE FAE 1,776 676
Interest on lease liabilities (note 22(a)) HEBERE (Hit22(a) 343 488
2,119 1,164

KPa-BM Holdings Limited
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PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

9. FERFETSH AR F
B ERAENENBR GEA) LT

the following: BIEEED :
2023 2022
—_=E_-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THT
Auditor’s remuneration 2% ERD B & 740 690
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAERINFERAE
— Carrying amount of inventories consumed — B {f B&FEERE 178,127 109,685
— Provision/(Reversal) of allowance for — g (B FERE
inventories (note (a)) (fii#@a) 95 (10)
— Write-off of inventories — FEME = 5
178,222 109,680
Depreciation charge: BHENTEBE2ZITNE
Right-of-use assets included in property, BEUATHo BN -
plant and equipment under the following BB REFERT 2
categories: HREEE :
— Other properties leased for own use — HMHEBRANYE 6,800 7,101
— Motor vehicles — A8 215 510
Other property, plant and equipment HimE  BENEE 1,749 2,407
8,764 10,018
Employee costs (including directors’ BERAN(BIEEEHE
emoluments (note 11(a))) (Btati11(a)))
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — & R NEMER 68,625 63,022
— Contributions to defined contribution — A TEEFERIRGT SR
retirement plans (note (b)) (B am)) 4,512 3,100
73,137 66,122
Exchange loss, net* & 5 EE 0 Famr 8,489 802
Short-term leases expenses HHEERX 807 812
Notes: Biat -
(@)  The reversal of allowance for inventories arising from an increase in net (a) TFEREBRERDIKEEBHEENETEFE
realisable value when certain inventories were sold subsequently. 2 A IR SR (EENE o
(b)  For the year ended 31 March 2023, no forfeited contribution in respect by HE-E-_=ZF=ZA=+—HIEFE &K
of the defined contribution retirement plans were utilised by the Group SENEFNRABEEREHRIGERNKRETED
to reduce the contribution payable to the plans (2022: nil). As at 31 BRI H TR DY ZETEI M EANHER(ZE
March 2023, no forfeited contribution under these plans is available to ToFEE) RN E_=ZF=ZA=1+—
reduce future contribution (2022: nil). B EZF8E T &2 HRe A
RRORROER(ZEZZF - &)
* Included in “Administrative and other operating expenses” * BREEIMTEREEMEERZIZA

EhERAERL D ~E-=FgHs 95
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

10. FREH A X

REEEERBERAZAGEHAXEHE

15

2023 2022
—_Eg-= —=E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current tax for the year 7K B B ER R 18

- Hong Kong Profits Tax — EBNEH 6,270 4,782

— Other regions of the PRC — — B E AR R
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") ([ZEFREH] 980 -
Over-provision in respect of prior years BT EHRERE (48) (6)
7,202 4,776
Deferred tax (note 24) EIEFRIE (M 7£24) 952 (1,661)
8,154 3,115

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year.

The Group is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. For the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022, the first HK$2 million of profits of
qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25% whereas profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% on their estimated
assessable profits.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries were eligible to be classified as small enterprise by
the local bureau and the corresponding assessable profits are
taxed at progressive rate. The first Renminbi (“RMB") 1,000,000
assessable profit is taxed at 2.5% (2022:5%) and assessable
profit above RMB1,000,000 but less than RMB3,000,000 is
taxed at 5% (2022: 10%). EIT arising from other regions of the
PRC is calculated at 25% on the estimated assessable profits.
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EBHNER AT E G ERB G
165% (ZE -4 : 16.5%) T E o
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EERAEEERE G ERFOERIZ
16.5% K 5t — B R BT o
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
profit before income tax in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REMBEHERME (F)

10. AT B BB X ()

AEFHMEHAX A B4 2 EK S
RPBRATEHADE N ERET

2023 2022
—E-= —_E£-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Profit before income tax bR P15 25 A A 45,301 14,620
Tax calculated at rates applicable to HERREWEAEEER Y
profits in the jurisdictions concerned w2 REREFTE 2 BIE 8,142 2,333
Effect on adoption of two-tiered MM BFEHEGE 2
profits tax regime 2 (165) (165)
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax BARBIWE 2 B &
purposes (529) (70)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR HMBEREZ BB E
for tax purposes 919 701
Tax effect of temporary differences AER LB MEERE Y
not recognised MBee 33 322
Tax effect on utilisation of tax loss previously BB REARHIBEIE Y
not recognised DTkv3-2 (198) -
Over-provision in respect of prior years BAFERERE (48) (6)
Income tax expense FRig % X 8,154 3,115
B hHERERZZA TE-ZEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MR RME (H)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

MNEBEEMME  AEBRSHMA

TUREREEEME

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM<
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: EEMESEELT -
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits bonus contribution Total
& 2MR Bikg
e Hi @A BERA B RR ‘et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TR THER TERT TR
Year ended 31 March 2023 HZ-Z=-=f=H
=t-HLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wai Yat Kin ("Mr. Wai") EHE%4
([E%ED - 3,204 2,300 18 5,522
Mr. Yip Pak Hung (“Mr. Yip") ZMisLst
([Ex%£)) - 3,204 2,300 18 5,522
Independent non-executive BV H#HTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZHTL 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter WERELE 240 - - - 240
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming HEREL 240 - - - 240
Total Mt 720 6,408 4,600 36 11,764
Year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ=-ZB-—£=§
=t-HLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wai BRAE - 3,020 1,000 18 4,038
Mr. Yip ik - 3,020 1,000 18 4,038
Independent non-executive BV HHTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy RETZZ T 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MERLE 240 - - - 240
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming BHRAEBL 240 - - - 240
Total @zt 720 6,040 2,000 36 8,796
Note: Vo=

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in the current

year and in prior year.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation of

loss of office in the current year and in prior year.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the

performance of each director of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 included two
(2022: two) directors whose emoluments are included in
the analysis presented in note (a) above. The emoluments
payable to the remaining three (2022: three) highest paid
individuals for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022

REMBEHERME (F)

MNEESHES ABEEFHMA
TUREREEEM S @

(b) EBBEFMAL

BE_ZT-_=F=A=t+—HI*F
B AEEREESHFMALHRE
EMA(ZE_—_F MEB)ES
(£ EMA LEXHTE@25 2
SR BE_Z-_=EK_-F
A=+ BILtFERRHE

are as follows: BB (ZEZZF  ZF)&e
FMATZAHMewT :

2023 2022

—E_-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4 2B R E Mg T 2,978 3,464
Discretionary bonus BB IEAT 1,384 1,049
Contribution to pension scheme RIKEET B 93 54
4,455 4,567

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BREMEHNFATHE :

2023 2022
—EC-=HE —E-=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A ANEL
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 21,500,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7 £2,500,000/% 7T - 1

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
non-director highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office in the current year and in prior year.

BhERERL2T

RAFERBEFE  AEEYE
AEMFESHESHMA LT
A <E - ERBEMARNEES AN
AR B 7 SR AE R BERR 1

—ECCFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MR RME (H)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Senior management’s emoluments

Emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management who are not directors were within the
following bands:

MNEESHES EEBEEFHMA
TUREREEEM S @

(c) EREEEM=

MEFAIIRREEENK B
HENOMEN FATHE :

2023 2022
—E_-= —=E_-
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7c 21,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 £ 2,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 £2,500,000% 7T - 1

12. DIVIDENDS

(a) Dividends payable to owners of the
Company attributable to the year

12. R 2
() A FERLEENEALAESR
ARE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Proposed final dividend BEANHRKRE 16,708 9,000
Note: /)(/752- .

The final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2023
of HK3.0 cents (2022: HK1.5 cents) per ordinary share, amounting
to HK$16,707,900 (2022: HK$9,000,000) have been proposed by
the directors of the Company and are subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Those dividends declared subsequent to 31 March 2023 have not been
recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MK ERME (H)

12. DIVIDENDS (continued) 12. RE @)

(b) Dividends payable to owners of the (b) AFEECH#HERSHBEH
Company attributable to the previous HFEERMAE2EMERDTHE
financial year, approved and paid during the EARE
year

2023 2022
—EC-=HE —E=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHETT

Dividends in respect of previous financial AEFEHAERE N

year, approved and paid during the year BEVHRFEEREBR

of HK1.5 cents (2022: HK5.5 cents) per 158 (ZE ==

ordinary share 5.5 1) 2’k E 9,000 33,000
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13.8RE%
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BREXRBFTER A TNSIEE -
following data:
2023 2022
B =fF =
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Earnings R
Profit for the year attributable to owners of AN & A A B (L F A% 7
the Company 37,147 11,505
2023 2022
—E-= —EF--
‘000 ‘000
TR T i
Weighted average number of ordinary B R{TEERNMEFLHIE
shares in issue
Weighted average number of ordinary FRNBETE R INE
shares in issue during the year E g 591,386 600,000

Diluted earnings per share are same as the basic earnings ARAFENMNBEFFETEFELE

per share as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares in MEEENTERKR EREBEERF A

existence during the year or in prior year. FREARBRER -

EhiERERLS —E-=FEHE 101



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MR RME (H)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.9% - BERRZRE

Right-of-use-assets (note)

fERBEE (1)
Other
properties Leased Plant Furniture
|eased motor Leasehold and and Office Computer Motor
for own use vehicles improvements  machineries fitures  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
HiHE il B
BRNE hE NERE  HEREE  FAREE  BOAZTHRE ERRR HE it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tén TR TR TEn TR TR TEn TR TR
At 1 April 2021 HZB=-F
mA-A
Cost i 24,089 2,803 31 2314 33N 1,47 4,79 5,080 46,817
Accumulated depreciation Z31H7E (13,954) (8%0) (2314) (593) (3,046) (1,197) (3217) (4151) (29352)
Net carrying amount ~ BREF(E 10,135 1,923 807 1,721 325 50 1575 929 17,465
Year ended BECRCCE
31 March 2022 ZA=t-RLER
Bichenge adjustment  EXE% 2 - 2 76 - I 412 8 751
Aditions 5E 958 - - 200 - 3 1,093 - 10,839
Depreciation s (7,101) (510) (796) (286) (121) 23 (697) (484) (10,018)
Write-off s . - - - - - (370) 2) (31
Closing net carrying ~ HAREFE
amount 12,829 1413 13 1,711 204 31 2,013 451 18,065
At 31 March 2022 i 3
‘EHE+-E
Cost i 33,884 2,548 3127 2,615 33N 1,253 5,585 4,762 57,145
Accumulated depreciation 2347 E (21,055) (1,135) (3,114) (904) (3,167) (1,222) (3572) (4311) (38,480)
Net carrying amount ~ REFE 12,829 1413 13 1M 204 3 2,013 451 18,665
Year ended HE-B-CE
31 March 2023 ZR=T-ALEE
Exchange adjustment B % @an) - - (127) - 1) (74) (9) (482)
Additions ME 3,189 - EE] 155 34 48 494 18 41
Depreciation i (6,800) (215) ) (29) (121) (22) (783) (517) (8764)
Write-off s - - - - - - @) - 2
Transfer BB - (115) - - - - - 715 -
Closing net carrying ~ HAREFE
amount 8,947 483 25 1,460 M 56 1,648 858 13,588
At 31 March 2023 i -3
\EHE+-E
Cost [ 36,802 1,074 3,146 2,574 3,405 1,298 5,915 5,308 59,522
Accumulated depreciation  2347E (27,855) (591) (3121) (1,114) (3,294) (1,242) (4,267) (4,450) (45,934)
Net carrying amount ~ REFE 8,947 483 25 1,460 111 56 1,648 858 13,588

KPa-BM Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15.

Note:

The a

nalysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying

REMBEHERME (F)

14.9% - BERRE@®

W7t

EREEERABEEENISNEREFED

asset is as follows: N
2023 2022
—E2== — - —F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET AT
Other properties leased for own use, carried at HEFEERZ MY
depreciated cost BT E AT BR 8,947 12,829
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost A R ER AR 483 1,413
9,430 14,242
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. REW*
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Fair value NEE
At the beginning of the reporting period RS B4 4,941 26,983
Change in fair value (note (a)) NEEEE (Mita@) (138) (246)
Disposal of investment properties (note (e)) HEREWME (K:te)) - (22,000)
Exchange adjustment ME 3, 8 B (369) 204
At the end of the reporting period AE a5 N 4,434 4,941

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The fair values of investment property as at 31 March 2023 and 2022
are level 3 recurring fair value measurement. There is no transfer into
or out of level 3 measurement during the year.

The fair value loss arising from remeasurement of the investment
property for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounting to HK$138,000
(2022: HK$246,000) represented an unrealised loss relating to the
investment property as at 31 March 2023.

The fair values of the Group's investment property as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 were determined by the directors with reference
to the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, which is an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in nearby location.

BhERERL2T

Hiit -

(a)

BEMER S _=ZFR T -_—_F=1
Z+—HNATEBEIPLEEEAFE
AE-FABMEE AXBLEIRAFE

5

BE-_Z-_=ZAF=A=+—HIEE
BN EREMENEENAFEERE
£138,0000 7T (—Z =& — — 4 : 246,000/
) RER-_BE-_=F=RA=+—HA
BREMENKREREIE -

AEBINKREMER_T_=ZFR=_F
—FZA=+—RAZATFETHESES
E/UBEGEMAGKFTHERME
RAREITHERSTE 2B EEGERM
NEHHEEEEER I AT
T EEUYEEBE LR -

—ECCFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBHRRME (&)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

() Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs (c)

to the valuation.

15. REYE @)

T REEMANGEERTEEZHARK
EHZ

Property Location  Valuation Unobservable inputs Range of unobservable Relationship of unobservable inputs
technique inputs to fair value
L/ES nE RERT TURERAHE FUBERRAYEEE FUEERAEBEEATENBEE
Commercial premise ~ The PRC Comparison Premium/Discount to the unit 2023:-20% to 10% The higher the premium/discount, the
method selling price per unit of market (2022: -4% t0 14%)  higher/lower the fair value
comparables, taking into account
differences such as size, character
and location, etc.
HENE HE HEE BEUTRAENBNE BELUEE ZTI=F: RE/MRER ATEES/WE
wE/BE - BEEEE  BER -20%%Z10%
WEHEREER (ZZ==fF:
4%ZE14%)

The fair value measurement is based on the highest and best use of the
investment property, which does not differ from their actual use.

Under comparison method, fair value is estimated by comparison
based on prices realised or market prices of comparable properties.
Comparable properties of similar size, character and location are
analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages
and disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair
comparison of capital values.

(d)  The investment property is leased to a third party under operating lease
to earn rental income, further details of which are included in note
22(b).

(e)  During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's industrial premises

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

in Hong Kong were disposed of at a consideration of HK$21,612,000
which resulted in a loss of HK$388,000 recognised in profit or loss and
a transfer of HK$15,646,000 from asset revaluation reserve to retained
profits.
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(e)

RVFEFEDNRREVEZBRSEERER
A% (RERMBEER)FE -

BEBLEE - AFEDAERATELRY
EZERBRATEILLBETHE - 5
BEWMEZMBESBEMNRE - DT R
FARGEEE  HEXMOHBLZ TR
WE  UHEEREEETAFLE

BREMERBEEEAELETFE=TMN
WEIVEES WA - BRE — SR BEE N
22(b) ©

REBEE-_Z-_—_F=ZA=Z=+—81L*=F
E AEBMREENTIEMEARE
21,612,000 T E W RBERHRE
$8388,000 8 TN R BEEAESHFERER
15,646,000/ L £ IR B @ A ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

16. GOODWILL 16. 5 &
2023 2022
—E-=HF —_E2-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABIT

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and RZFE_—FMA—AH-

31 March 2023 —E-—F=ZA=+—BK

—E-=#=ZR=+—H 601 601

The amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period is
allocated to the cash-generating unit which is the segment of
“Structural engineering works” and is tested for impairment by
the management by estimating the recoverable amount of this
cash-generating unit based on value-in-use calculations. The
calculation comprise cash flow projections based on the financial
budgets approved by the management. The period covered
by the financial budgets is two years. Cash flows beyond the
two-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth
rate of 2% (2022: 2%). Based on the results of the impairment
testing, management determines that there is no impairment in
respect of this cash-generating unit.

Key assumptions used by the management in the value-in-use
calculations of this cash-generating unit include:

REHARNEESER IR &ET
BIEIDERMBEEEEMN - W Hh
EREREBEFREATELAGTZR
SELBEMHOAIE S5 - ETRENR
Ao ZERRENTERBEM B
FEENBRESRERD - MBEERE
MEIE AT - MFEENRESREN2%
TEIF 1 2%)MEEIIE R EEE o
BREREINANER BEBETZR
SEABMT AFLERE -

EREEAEZRAELBEMNEREER
BERMANTIZERREHE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-=
Discount rate (pre-tax) [ B8 By 37 3R = 12.2% 18.3%
Gross profit margin SN 11.0%-13.5% 12.1%-13.5%

These assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the market conditions and economy which have impact on the
business in which this cash-generating unit is engaged. Revenue
are forecasted with reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation of the awarded
projects, which is estimated with reference to the expected work
schedule requirements and duration of the projects. Gross profit
margin is forecasted based on the gross profit margin achieved
in prior year adjusted for the expected change in market
conditions and taking into account the revenue and cost budget
of individual structural engineering project. The pre-tax discount
rate used reflects the specific risks relating to the business and
industry in which this cash-generating unit is engaged.

BEr#ERERLZA

ZEBRREREBBERBEANEEE
ﬁ.:iﬁ%?iﬁhﬁﬁ#ﬁ&%i%ﬁﬁ P&
BT R R AR 2 TR T Hﬁlmﬁ%«
DEEHERIET EPHIEEJE%’U%E\EE’\J
EE (ZERT2RIBEBMBERTIEE
B2 MR M A5 MIER - R
TRBBEFEMEINNEN KL RE
mRZEREHELFIE  AREER
&5 458 T2 18 B MU ek R AN TR H
TEH I TEOR © FT A 2 BR AR AT 4T 38 & [ AR
BRZBRSELENMPREFRITE
HY 45 TE LR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

17.INVENTORIES 17. 78

2023 2022

—EBC-=F =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Raw materials and supplies R #4 B 44 FE o 5,736 6,480
Work-in-progress TR 7,412 6,741
Finished goods BIAK T 4,557 5,010
17,705 18,231

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(a) Terms and arrangements of construction

services

The Group's structural engineering contracts and supply
and installation of building material products contracts
include payment schedules which require stage payments
over the contract period once milestones are reached.
These payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. When the revenue recognised exceeds the
milestone payments, the Group recognises contract assets
for the difference.

Contract assets arising from these unbilled revenue
represent a right to consideration from the customers
in exchange of the services transferred to the customers
when that right is subject to conditions other than solely
the passage of time. Upon the completed services being
accepted by the customers, the amounts recognised as
contract assets on unbilled revenue are reclassified to trade
receivables.

When the milestone payments exceeds the revenue
recognised to date, the Group recognises contract liabilities
for the difference.

Details of the contract assets of the Group are set out in
note 18(b) and 19(b).
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REHWEE -ECERWaEEE
RENSRE  AEEREREERE

RERAFAEZRREELNANEE
FE LR B P R 0 IR 7% A P U
RABARER - 1 % 4 | 7R 32 B[R] 46
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18. 8 EE EHNEBwW

(Continued)

(b) ENEE

(b) Contract assets

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FH& T FET

Contract assets arising from: RENTEENEGHNEE :
- Structural engineering works —EEIREIE 112,664 90,672

— Supply and installation of building —HERTEEME®D

material products 3,258 1,660
115,922 92,332
Less: Loss allowance B B R (2,519) (1,599)
113,403 90,733

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

WG B 2 A N A E KB SR8

Z T

2023 2022

—E-=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Within one year —FRw 41,581 39,777
More than one year and less than two years #2838 — 4 M T B8 & 74,341 52,555
115,922 92,332

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

BREEREZEBREGZZHNT

2023 2022

—EZ=HF —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R 45 HA ) 1,599 1,430
Provision of impairment loss WA EIERE 920 169
At the end of the reporting period - 2,519 1,599

The Group recognises impairment allowance on contract
assets based on the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)
(ii). Further details of the Group’s credit policy and credit
risk arising from contract assets are set out in note 35(a).

BhERERL2T

AR &= BAR BRI SE2(h)(ii) Pt 19 & &
BRERGNWEENREREE - X
SENEERRMANEEEL

MEERRZES

35(a) ©

A B R P R

E_=ZFERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MR RME (H)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18. 8 EE EHNEBEmW

(Continued)

(c) Contract liabilities (c) 6HEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —ET-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FHET
Contract liabilities arising from: KEUTTEZEHEE
— Structural engineering works —EEIREIE 49,264 23,577
— Supply and installation of building —HERTEEME®
material products 4,940 3,524
— Trading of building material products —BEEMEM 1,309 735
55,513 27,836
The movements in contract liabilities are as follows: AHBEBEZEHNOT :
2023 2022
—EC-=E —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FET
At the beginning of the reporting period R & B 27,836 50,346
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HRERNERW TS F
recognising revenue during the year that EHaERLHERA
was included in the contract liabilities at FUEHBE
the beginning of the year (22,197) (48,220)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of AR FRNIRAIFEE
billing in advance during the year m<EE e &N 49,874 25,710
At the end of the reporting period R EBR 55,513 27,836
KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

REMBEHERME (F)

19.E5REMEBKKE - BE

AND PREPAYMENTS RFESRIE

2023 2022
—=E_= —=E_-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables H 5 kIR 97,150 54,910
Less: loss allowance B s (1,641) (1,064)
Trade receivables, net (note (a)) B 5 W IR FEE (it @) 95,509 53,846
Retention receivables EUIREE & 104,270 84,599
Less: loss allowance B B R (2,863) (2,072)
Retention receivables, net (note (b)) FEUIRE & %58 (K1) 101,407 82,527
Other receivables (note (c)) H b fE WK TE (K7 7t (c)) 9,723 8,560
Deposits (note (c)) B (Bic) 2,326 2,258
Prepayments TE TR IE 13,486 12,125
25,535 22,943
Less: non-current portion — deposits (note (c)) & : 3ERBNE D — 18 & (#172(c)) (1,787) (1,798)
Current portion mENER 7 220,664 157,518
Notes: Hiiz -

(a)

Trade receivables

The Group normally allows a credit period of 30 and 60 days to its
customers for provision of construction works and trading of building
material products respectively.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss allowance),
based on invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

(a) EZHEWHA
AEEDRIRRHERTERERENE
mAEPREZERES RN F30E60R °

RIBEHR - B EUEFR CAREE R
B RBEZAHNREDTOT

2023 2022
—EC-= —FT=-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

0 - 30 days 0%30H 41,661 27,748

31 - 60 days 31%60H 35,052 10,585

61 — 90 days 61%90H 1,167 143

Over 90 days #8390 H 17,629 15,370

95,509 53,846

EhiERAERLZA TR CFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Trade receivables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

19. EZREMEBWRFIE &S

R A RE @)

Hizz : (%)

(a)

B 5 R RE (&)

BHREF AR REBEREZSHOT

2023 2022

—E-=HF —E- -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R &G H 1,064 618
Provision of impairment loss REBEEE 577 539
Amount written off during the year F RS - (93)
At the end of the reporting period REEHR 1,641 1,064

The Group recognises impairment loss on trade receivables based on
the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)(ii). Further details on the
Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in note 35(a).

Retention receivables

The Group generally provides retention period of 1 to 2 years and
normally retention monies represent 5% to 10% of the contract
sum. Retention receivables are part of the consideration arising from
structural engineering contracts and sizable supply and installation of
building material products contracts that are retained by the customers
and are payable to the Group upon completion of the retention period
of the relevant contract or in accordance with the terms specified in
the relevant contract. Retention monies are intended to protect the
customers from the Group failing to complete its obligations under the
contracts rather than to provide financing to the customers. Retention
receivables are in nature as contract assets.

The terms and conditions in relation to the release of retention
monies vary from contract to contract, which may be subject to
practical completion of contracts, expiry of defect liability period and
rectification of defects to the satisfaction of customers (i.e. at the
expiry of the defect liability period that is at a point at which the Group
has unconditional right to invoice to the customers). Upon release
of retention monies by the customers, retention receivables will be
reclassified to “Trade receivables”. For other small-scale supply and
installation of building material products contracts, the Group normally
issues bill to the customers for payment along when the services are
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(0

Retention receivables (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment on retention
receivables are as follows:

REMBEHERME (F)

D.EFREMERITE &L
578 FOE @)

B (%)
(b) EURRZEE(E)
U RE S 2REBRREEZSNT

2023 2022

—ET=HF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R G H 2,072 1,615
Provision of impairment loss BB EEE 791 493
Amount written off during the year F RS = (36)
At the end of the reporting period REEHR 2,863 2,072

The Group recognises impairment allowance on retention receivables
based on the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)(ii). Further details
of the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from contract assets
are set out in note 35(a).

The retention receivables as of the end of the reporting period are to
be settled, based on the terms and conditions in relation to the release
of the retention monies by customers and taking into account the
status of rectification works, as follows:

7N 2 [ 4R 5 M 3E2(h) (i) B it 80 & 5 Bk 58 R
REWRBSHFBERE AEENEE
BRRENEEELENEERRZES
B KT FE35@) ©

HERSHRNEBURLESRIREEFPR
BRRE £ B AR I 5t R B TR
RREITHE - BRI

2023 2022

—E-=fF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
On demand or within one year BERg—FR 5,425 16,356
After one year —F1& 95,982 66,171
101,407 82,527

Other receivables and deposits

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
other receivables and deposits are set out in note 35(a).

(0 HMEUKEREZS

EBRASEZEEBRRARRE HfihfE
KHBERZe ZEERRBRFBHLMZE
35(a) °

BhHhERERAI —ECCEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

21.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for periods
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had time deposits of
HK$53,606,000 (2022: HK$43,236,000) placed with banks with
original maturity of one to three months (2022: two to three
months) and earn interest income at interest rates ranged from
2.90% to 4.45% (2022: 0.05% to 2.50%) per annum.

Fixed term deposit of approximately HK$10,125,000 as at 31
March 2023 (2022: nil) represented time deposit with maturity
of more than three months from the date of acquisition which
carried at fixed interest rate of 4% per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$1,710,000 (2022:
HK$2,233,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20.REKRBI1T4

ml:l ﬁ?

FRNRITZESRE B RITHERAN X
FHEZF B REREH B Lﬁﬂm,ﬁﬁf
RZHBR - DRFAEE 2 DR S

RKME > BECHEHES ﬂTﬁaﬁHXﬂ

g <
i

RZZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 AEER

$R171F 853,606,000 T (ZE - —4F :

43236000,%75)2mﬁﬁfm JR EI| HA
HRA—Z2= MH(_E::i RES
=@A)  WIRNF2.90%%E4.45% (=
T -4 :0.05%%2.5%) 1) F R K B
A E WA o

NRZE_=F=A=+—8 ' THEX
4910,125,0008 0 (=& - —F : &) ]}
FEEIENB BB = A BB EE
FEFMEA%FT BT HFR -

RZBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H" Kﬁl
UIARBFEZRESRBRITEH A
1,710,000 c (ZE = =4 : LB&%O
BIL) c ARBAATEHREBRAEME
B SR ARIE P B A b RO HNEE B IR (E
B R fE0E - EENMTIEZTERTE A%
BEESBEREETINEER ZRITHE
AREHBBHME -

21. BEZ R EMWENKE

2023 2022

—E-= —EF--
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables (note (a)) B 5 JE T 5/ I8 (K15 (a)) 68,950 67,170
Retention payables (note (b)) FEfTIREB & (K132 (Db)) 39,603 33,984
Accrued staff costs JEFFE TRKA 9,522 4,766
Other payables and accruals H b JE 08 K FE 5T RIE 4,164 4,586
122,239 110,506
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MK ERME (H)

For trade payables, the credit period granted by suppliers and
contractors is normally 30 to 60 days.

(a)

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, as at the

1. ES R HMEAFIE @
Wit

HEZEMNKRANE - HERRAEER
HZ EER—RN F30E60A °

RB|EHRR - BHERNFIEREZAHD

end of the reporting period is as follows: BREROTAT :

2023 2022
—E-= T

HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
0 — 30 days 0%30H 43,131 37,653
31 - 60 days 31260H 18,913 19,180
61 - 90 days 61%290H 803 4,681
Over 90 days 90H M E 6,103 5,656
68,950 67,170

Based on the terms and conditions agreed in relation to the release
of retention monies to subcontractors and taking into account the
status of rectification work, the retention payables as at the end of the
reporting period are to be settled as follows:

(b)

ERptmsn 8@ m5ERE S % E S GHR R
R Et R B TN - R|EHR
FRBOENRESZOT

2023 2022
—EC-= —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
On demand or within one year BERF—FNR 35,568 29,786
After one year —F1& 4,035 4,198
39,603 33,984
BhHhERERAI TR ZFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

22.LEASES 22.78E

(a) AEEEHAEHEA
AEEHERREYE KBHE A

(@) The Group as lessee

The Group leases office premises, factories, warehouse,
quarters and motor vehicles for use in its operation. The E-BakAEEEERE - T8
periodic rent is fixed over the lease term, and the leases are HeAEHERANGABEETE MW
negotiated for an initial period of two to ten years (2022: HELERBRT A —_=2+F (=

two to ten years). T —F: =FE+F) o
The movements of the right-of-use assets are disclosed CRAREE ZEBRENRKT14 -
in note 14. The movements of the lease liabilities are as THEaBEEEET -
follows:
Motor
Other vehicles
properties (note) Total
RE
Hihyp (M aE) # ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHBxT FExT
At 1 April 2021 N-—EBE-—F
A—H 10,906 758 11,664
Additions NE 9,543 - 9,543
Finance costs (note 8) B ISR AS (f728) 468 20 488
Lease payments HERK (7,823) (469) (8,292)
Exchange adjustment ME 5, ) B 278 - 278
Balance at 31 March 2022 and R=ZT==
1 April 2022 =A=+—-HBKk
—s-=
MA—HZ#e 13,372 309 13,681
Additions NE 3,189 - 3,189
Finance costs (note 8) ISR (M1 728) 338 5 343
Lease payments MERF (7,704) (300) (8,004)
Exchange adjustment M 3 & (310) - (310)
Balance at 31 March 2023 R-ZZBE-=F=A
=Et+t—Hz#&e 8,885 14 8,899
Note: Wz -

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

The Group's obligations under the lease of the motor vehicles are
secured by the motor vehicles and subject to corporate guarantee
provided by the Company to the extent of HK$14,000 (2022:
HK$236,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. LEASES (continued)

(@) The Group as lessee (Continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

REMBEHERME (F)

22. 788 @)
(a) XEBEERAEEA @

AREBEMNKREHBLT ¢

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments Interest payments
B®IE RIEHEE
HEMSK FIE HRZBRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FTET
As at 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F
=A=+-—H
Not later than one year Tl —F 5,678 (189) 5,489
Later than one year but no later  #BiB—F BT\
than two years N 2,532 (65) 2,467
Later than two years but no later BB F BT BB
than five years hF 984 (41) 943
9,194 (295) 8,899
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
As at 31 March 2022 N-—EBE-Z
=A=+-—H
Not later than one year BB —F 7,838 (318) 7,520
Later than one year but no later BB —F BT A
than two years 4 4,516 (87) 4,429
Later than two years but no later BB F18 i@
than five years HEF 1,740 (8) 1,732
14,094 (413) 13,681
The present value of future lease payments are analysed as AKBEMNZTIRELSTET :
follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Current liabilities BB A 5,489 7,520
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 3,410 6,161
8,899 13,681

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash payment
for the Group’s lease arrangements (including repayment
of lease liabilities) amounted to HK$8,811,000 (2022:
HK$9,104,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEHRRMET (F)

22. LEASES (continued)

(b) The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to
third party tenant. The lease run for an initial period of
three years (2022: one year). At the end of the reporting FE(ZEBE-_—F: —4F) o
period, the Group had the following future minimum lease

22. 788 @)

(b) AEEEHEEA

AEERME=SHEFHEEREREY
% (Max15) ~HAONTHRA=

o IR 5 H]

R AKERRKEEE R KHA

payments receivables: mE

2023 2022

—8== —T-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —F R 186 69
After one year but within two years —FREMEA a7 -
233 69

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITE R

2023 2022

—EZ=HF —E -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank borrowings repayable within one year —FREEBEHIRITER 45,867 2,539
The bank borrowings, including trade financing, are interest RITEZ(BHEESIRE) BETRE

bearing at the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s prime rate
adjusted by certain basis points per annum. The interest
rate of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2023
granted under banking facilities ranged from 2.2% to 8.9%
(2022: 5.0%) per annum. The bank borrowings are subject to T —F 50%) 17/

repayment on demand clause.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the banking facilities granted to
the Group were secured by the corporate guarantee provided by

the Company.

=

FEREEROGK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. DEFERRED TAX

Details of the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the
Group and movements during the current year and prior year

are as follows:

24,

REMBEHERME (F)

i 3E B 1/

RAFEREEE  AEEDRRBRELT
MEBERBEREENRESH ZFHBNOT :

Accelerated Allowance
tax for Revaluation
depreciation inventories  of properties Tax loss Total
MEHRBHE FERE MEER HEKE EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TR TR TEL
At 1 April 2021 R-E--£MA-H 637 (144) 138 = 631
(Credited)/Charged to (GtA)/MBER Hit0)
profit or loss (note 10) (624) 2 (60) (979) (1,661)
Exchange adjustment B HAE - - 4 - 4
At 31 March 2022 and W-2--%#=A=t+-AH
1 April 2022 R-E-_-%£WmA-AH 13 (142) 82 (979) (1,026)
(Credited)/Charged to (GEA)/HBRBE (H10)
profit or loss (note 10) (48) 55 (34) 979 952
Exchange adjustment EHHAE - - ) - 7
At 31 March 2023 WZE-=%=A=t+-H (35) (87) 41 = (81)
Represented by: B IEREK
2023 2022
—E-=E —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Deferred tax assets REFRTEE = (139) (1,125)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAEE 58 99
(81) (1,026)

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime have no material impact
on the deferred tax balances of the Group as at 31 March 2022
and 2023 as the qualifying entity nominated by the Group did
not have material temporary differences as at 31 March 2022
and 2023. Deferred tax assets and liabilities of other group
entities were continued to be measured using a flat tax rate of
16.5%.

M_E::$&_7:_$_H_+—
H BREAEEIEZAEKREET
ERERMEER  ALWERSE mm1
SIEHAREER S __FR_T_=
FoA=ZT+—BANELEHERBETES
AHE - BEMEBEENEEREEN
BEHEIN165%ME —THRAE -

BhERERL2T To=FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

For the Group, the applicable tax rate is 5%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividend distributed by
the subsidiary in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Company's subsidiary established in the PRC
that are subject to withholding taxes, which amounted to
HK$11,040,000 (2022: HK$5,325,000). In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that the subsidiary will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have unused tax losses
to offset against future profits. As at 31 March 2022, deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses
of approximately RMB689,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$790,000) due to unpredictability of future profits stream
and such unused tax losses will be expired after the end of
2026.
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25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBHERRME (F)

SHARE CAPITAL 25. I &<
Number of
Ordinary shares EER Par value shares Amount
HIE KRG EE BE
HK$ HK$'000
BT THER
Authorised: EE
At the beginning and the R & B RAR
end of the reporting period 0.01 2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
At the beginning of the MR E B
reporting period 0.01 600,000,000 6,000
Cancellation of shares FHIHRE IR 1 (B at)
repurchased (note) 0.01 (43,070,000) (431)
At the end of the RS ER
reporting period 0.01 556,930,000 5,569
Note: Haz -

On 18 January 2023, the Company repurchased 43,070,000 ordinary
shares from a former key management with consideration of approximately
HK$0.245 per share, totally approximately HK$10,544,000. All those ordinary
shares were immediately cancelled once repurchased by the Company. Upon
cancellation of the 43,070,000 repurchased shares, the number of shares
of the Company was reduced from 600,000,000 to 556,930,000. Of the
repurchase cost of HK$10,544,000, an amount of HK$431,000, representing
the par value of the cancelled shares was deducted from share capital
whereas the remaining amount of HK$10,113,000 was deducted from share
premium.

RESERVES
The Group

Details of the movements in the Group’s reserves for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are set out in the consolidation
statement of changes in equity. The following describes the
nature and purpose of each reserve within owners’ equity:

Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over
the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued at a
premium, less expenses incurred in connection with the issue of
the shares.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve mainly arose from the transactions under the
reorganisation which took place during the year ended 31 March
2016 in connection to the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange.

BEr#ERERLZA —Z -

26.

RZZFEZ=F—A+N\B AQAERRES
BR490.2458 TR — B X EERERKEED
43,070,000/% EiB% - &5H4710,544,0008 7T °
F B 3% 55 3 IR P AR B B8 12 1% B S A vk 85 o
7 ¥ $543,070,0008% % B B 17 1%+ AN A A1 &9 %
15 $1 H B600,000,0000% ¥ J& Z£556,930,000
% o 7B [B X 710,544,000/ 7T+ B 5 85 %
DEES 431,000 70 B WA F HBR - Wk
T#910,113,000/ 7T B AR 10 )@ B Bk o

it e

AEH

BE_2_=ZFRrR=-_ZTE=-_—_F=HA
—t+—HLEE  AEEMFEEEZF
BEHRIGEERSEER T XEAES
AEZBNSRE2ELG AR -

KR E

et 3i (8 T 2N R A B 40 LA Ja (B 35 1T s P
BEE  MBBEITRMOMXEK Bk
EEZZR °

AU
EHREIERBBEE_ZT—R"F=H
=T —BLEFERAR Tﬂxfﬁﬁ/\ B 22 FfY

FHETZEEABTHRS °

—FERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

26. RESERVES (continued)

The Group (Continued)

Asset revaluation reserve

Asset revaluation reserve arises from revaluation of assets.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the balance of asset
revaluation reserve was transferred to retained profits upon the
disposal of corresponding investment properties (note 15(e)).

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations in accordance with the accounting policies adopted
in note 2(m).

Retained profits

Retained profits is the cumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.

The Company

The movements of the Company’s reserves during the current
year and prior year are as follows:

26. &6 (@)

AEE @)

BEEWH#E

BEEHFEEREEEEG HE_-ZT
T CE=ZA=t—HBLFEE BEEH
HEESRNLEREREDERERS
RE & F (MIFE15()) °

(B 5 11

PE 3t B FR AR AR P FE2(m) TSR R B &
AR BE IR BRI AELN
PE 3¢ 258 o

1R B iz 7

R a A A B e P R H) R At e M
BEFE -

NN

REER LFEADTDEENBDIER
mE -

Share Retained
premium profits Total
&4 E R 8% Fl ot
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FHET FET
As 1 April 2021 R-E-—-¥mMA—H 33,942 33,245 67,187
Profit for the year F A& - 9,318 9,318
Final dividend in respect of 2021 —Z =~ —F /R E
(note 12(b)) (Htat12(b)) - (33,000) (33,000)
As at 31 March 2022 and R-ZE-_=—F=H=1+—H
1 April 2022 E—ZE2-_—_WA—H 33,942 9,563 43,505
Profit for the year F A 5 A - 16,184 16,184
Final dividend in respect of 2022 —Z = —FHRHAKR 2
(note 12(b)) (BtaE12(b)) - (9,000) (9,000)
Cancellation of shares R AE )
repurchased (note 25) (K1:£25) (10,113) - (10,113)
As at 31 March 2023 R=ZZB=-=F=ZH=+—H 23,829 16,747 40,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to resolutions passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 22 September 2015, the shareholders of the
Company approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme enables
the Company to grant options to eligible persons as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from 8 October 2015, after which
period no further options may be granted but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.

The board of directors may, at its absolute discretion, invite any
eligible persons to take up options at a price determined by the
board of directors which shall not be lower than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the options; and (iii) nominal value of a share. Upon
acceptance of the offer of an option, the grantee shall pay HK$1
to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption.

RERBHERRME (F)

27. B RETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

28. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 28. R A B BT I AR R &

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2023

R-_ZE-_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=E —ET-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RET B R RMNKRE 29 & -
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HMEWHIE  Ze Rk
prepayments LN O] 219 252
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UM B A | ;A 48,804 47,508
Cash and bank balances He RIF1THES 2,869 1,908
51,892 49,668
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals b JE S FE R ERTRIB 157 163
Amount due to a subsidiary NGB 5,590 -
5,747 163
Net current assets/Net assets REEEFREH EEFE 46,145 49,505
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERR#E
Share capital B& X 25 5,569 6,000
Reserves e 26 40,576 43,505
Total equity FEREE 46,145 49,505
On behalf of the directors REES
Yip Pak Hung Wai Yat Kin
EE ERR
Director Director
EZE EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (F)

29.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

29. R BRARIMNKRE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are

KARMBRARR -_ZTE=-_F

A

as follows: =+t—HBFBHOT :
Place of incorporation and Place of Issued and Effective interest
Name of subsidiary type of legal entity operations paid up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
AR 3L 4 2
(i) Pk RtaERER Beps BRTRAZRE FAAMRERER FEER
Directly  Indirectly
HE Rt
Light Dimension Limited The BVI/Limited HongKong 16 shares of 100% - Investment holding
liability company US$1 each
y# 21 NG RBRABE/ERAE BA 16 EREE 100% - RERR
1XTHRG
AcouSystem Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 300 shares of - 100% Trademark Holding
company HK$300
AcouSystem Limited 2%/ BRLA BB 3003003 7T - 100% HARL
len)
BuildMax Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 50,000 shares of - 100% Supply and installation of
company HK$50,000 building material products
and trading of building
material products
RABRAT BE/BRLA B 50,000%%50,0007 7T - 100% RERZERMERR
ol EERMER
BuildMax Technology The PRC/Wholly The PRC RMB6,500,000 - 100% Processing, fabrication,
(Shenzhen) Limited foreign-owned enterprise manufacturing and trading
of building material
products
arns R BRAR  HE/HNEBELS e AB%6,500,0007C - 100% nu;jﬁ% BEREERM
ESi|
Hillford Trading Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - 100% Investment holding
company HK$10,000
EEZHERAT B4/ BRAF &b 10,000810,00057 - 100% HAZR
lie)
KPa Contracting Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 300 shares of HK$300 - 100% Provision of structural
company engineering works
ENREERLA] N &R 300830078 LAY {2 - 100% REEBETRIERSE
KPa Engineering Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 15,000,000 shares of - 100% Provision of structural
company HK$15,000,000 engineering works
EHIEBERAA N & 15,000,000% - 100% REEBIEIRERH
15,000,000
lie)
KPa Engineering (HK) Limited  Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 300 shares of HK$300 - 100% Provision of structural
company engineering works
NI (BE) BRAR  BA/BRAR i 300/%300/& AR {7 - 100% REAEBETRIERSE
Sun Pool Engineering Limited  Hong Kong/Limited liability Hong Kong 150,000 shares of - 100% Property investment and
company HK$150,000 investment holding
RATRERAA N &R 150,000% 150,000 7T - 100% EHERERREER
ilen)
EHEERAE SR The PRC/Wholly The PRC HK$1,000,000 - 100% Provision of fabrication
BRAF foreign-owned enterprise drawing
ENEERIES hE/NEBA LR T 1,000,000%7 - 100% RERMERE

(Y1) BRAR

e None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities in issue at the end of

the reporting period.

THEBES

BEr#ERERLZA

©  REEHR GEMBLFRBAEAEHE
T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

30. GUARANTEE

The Group provided guarantee in respect of the surety bonds
issued in favour of the customers of the Group’s certain
construction contracts. The Group has unconditionally and
irrevocably agreed to indemnify the bank as issuer of the bonds
for claims and losses they may incur in respect of the bonds.
Details of these guarantees at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

30. 1R

AEERNAEEETREANZEF
R ANEDOERR K F-IER - &
SEEEGE R AR B E MR B RRTT
(EREFETA)REFAREELENR
BREBRELEE REBESHRNZSE
ERABET :

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Value of the surety bond issued in favour NEFAZZABEHOERRE
of a customer EORERED 7,276 7,276

As assessed by the directors, it is not probable that the bank
would claim the Group for losses in respect of the guarantee
contract as it is unlikely that the Group is unable to fulfill the
performance requirements of the relevant contract. Accordingly,
no provision for the Group’s obligations under the guarantee
has been made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBHERRME (F)

31.NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31.AZERERERHE
OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: MEEBEAZEBYHER:
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITER HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FERT
(note 23) (note 22(a))
(Htit23) (Ht5t22(a))
As at 1 April 2021 R=-ZBE=-—FMA—H = 11,664
Changes from cash flows REREZH
Proceeds from new bank borrowings %ﬁfﬁfﬂﬁzkﬁ’lﬁﬁ%ﬁ 124,764 =
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (122,225) -
Capital element of lease payments HERE E’J§$4B - (7,804)
Interest element of lease payments HEN KT E = (488)
2,539 (8,292)
Exchange adjustment PE 5, 3 & - 278
Other changes Hh g
Interest expenses FERAX - 488
Increase in lease liabilities from entering FINFHEmMENNEESRE
into new leases - 9,543
- 10,031
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-ZB-ZZf=H=+—-HE
—E-—_FMA—H 2,539 13,681
Changes from cash flows REeEn=EH
Proceeds from new bank borrowings HIRTTIERX Eﬁﬁﬁ’%?&( 116,135 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (72,807) -
Capital element of lease payments HENRHERLS - (7,661)
Interest element of lease payments HEMNFZHF EE» - (343)
43,328 (8,004)
Exchange adjustment ME 3, 8 B - (310)
Other changes EH b B
Interest expenses MERX - 343
Increase in lease liabilities from R EmEMMEERE
entering into new leases - 3,189
- 3,532
At 31 March 2023 R=B=-==ZHA=+-—H 45,867 8,899
EhiERAERLZA = SEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N.BBERS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial MGZEEAVERREMIEDTIREE
statements, the Group has the following significant transactions Gy REBHBEBABEATEARS -

with its related parties.

Related party

(@) Name relationship Type of transaction Transaction amount
=L B 5 & X585 XBEHE
2023 2022
gz —E—-—

HK$’000  HK$'000
FTET TAET

Cozy Coffee Club Limited Director and key Management fee income 62 62
(note) management have
equity interest
REMPEE R AR EERTEEREE EREBEIRA 62 62
(Hit) HAER A=
Note:  Mr. Yip is the director and shareholder of Cozy Coffee Club Kz : EhREAERSYEHESAE QTN
Limited. EERRKE -
The above transaction was conducted in accordance with bl zs %B*E}F$%@Eﬁiﬁﬂﬂﬁ Dl
the terms mutually agreed between the Group and the B 15 7E BERETT o

related party.

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key b) BEEREMTEEEAENMS W
management were as follows: N

2023 2022

—EC-=E =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EEMREAMET 15,917 13,092

Contributions to defined contribution AERFGRIREEI R
retirement plan 129 126
16,046 13,218
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital structure, to reduce
the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability and
growth.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is total
debt to equity. Total debt includes bank borrowings and lease
liabilities. Equity represents total equity of the Group.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews and
manages the Group’s capital structure, taking into consideration
the future capital requirements of the Group, to ensure optimal
shareholders’ returns. The Group manages the capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period were as
follows:

RERBHERRME (F)

3. 64 EHE

AEEZERERBBRDREAEED
HELERSD  ARKRREH—DR RS
Hifrin BN B REELE
B URLPESRAARIFHAEEZ
REMRIER -

AEEFEREARGLR (BMEFAR
EEam L R)EREN - BHEEE
BRRTEALEERR BEEAEE
2Ktk -

ARBEFHEERAEHERKRES R
RHBRT - TBEHRT REELAE
BEEAER  NERESREBRRED
HoARBERBEERREEKIAME
EZRBEHEREAGEBYELR
B DBRBAFHBELGRE  AKEA
BEHESN TRRECBREHE MR
LEES  BITHERN  BRFESL
EEERIE -

RBEMRZERABLEEDT

2023 2022

—_Eg2-= —=E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Lease liabilities HEARE 8,899 13,681
Bank borrowings SRITIERR 45,867 2,539
54,766 16,220
Total equity B 263,792 247,365
Gearing ratio BEARBENRE 20.8% 6.6%

The Group targets to maintain a gearing ratio to be in line with
the expected changes in economic and financial conditions.
The Group’s overall strategy on capital management remains
unchanged throughout the year.

BEr#ERERLZA

AEENBEEABERBBELEERR
NEBREEMMBRBEFHKF -
AREENEBEANEERBREEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEHRRMET (F)

34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

3. REREITNERMEERS

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities:

MEEZHME
TRITEMAERS WA MNREE:

2023 2022
—E-=F —_F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets measured at amortised ZE#EKXFEHNLHEE
cost
— Trade receivables —Z ZEWHIAE 95,509 53,846
— Other receivables and deposits —HihEWHRIERIZ S 12,049 10,818
— Fixed term deposit —EHEFER 10,125 -
— Cash and bank balances —Re RIRITHEH 114,818 105,400
232,501 170,064
Financial liabilities EtHmas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEBERLGENLHEE
— Trade and other payables —E 5 R H R RIE 122,239 110,506
- Bank borrowings —RITEX 45,867 2,539
168,106 113,045
Other financial instruments HttE@mT A
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 8,899 13,681

(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair

value

Management assessed the fair values of current portion of
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, fixed term
deposit, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables
and bank borrowing approximately their carrying value due

to their short-term nature.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
any financial instruments measured at fair value and
accordingly, no analysis on fair value hierarchy is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
comprise credit risk, market risk (mainly interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the
key management under the policies approved by the board of
directors. The Group does not have written risk management
policies. However, the directors of the Company meet regularly
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to
manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group
is exposed to are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligations
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a
financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, it is the Group’s policy to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. In order to minimise credit risk, management
has formulated a credit policy and delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from the counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each debtor. As at 31
March 2023, the Group has certain concentration of credit
risk as 46% and 85% (2022: 43% and 79%) of the Group's
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest trade
debtors and the five largest trade debtors respectively.

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is limited
because all deposits are placed with reputable banks and
financial institutions.

RERBHERRME (F)

35. KA BB

AEEAZZRUBRER BFEEER
B mGEAR (B R XER &N
Rk RRgERER AEBENER
R ERFHEARANSETIS > I
SREEREHAEEMBERRMBENX
MEBEETNTE RREEHTIZER
ABRBEEFTSHAENERRET - XK
B EEEEREERR - AN AR
A E E 7 8 DA R R ATl LR DA B
il R BE CAE IR B S B

—RMmE  NEBREREEREIER
M—ERTERE -ARESEREANEE
FTE S BB RRE SR REKTE &
NEBIWEFRBIATET AR EMT
E{ES AR AEBEH N HEKE
frEgaan T

(a) FERERR

EERRESZRT AN H T RE
BITEREMIAKRKETNE
T BEAKRERIMBEEENE
AEBEZEERAREIERBEES
R E A EUGRIA - A A B E N MR
THER - BEEERAEERE I
ERBEREERAR -

E SR EAMEYRIA R A K E
EFTEME  ARENOBRRESR
EERHFNRZIHTETRS - B
EERBRERE BEEEEHE
—EEERREEZEEBAEERE
EEHEE EFEMEREMERE
Fr o DAREIRBE IR B OB HRE K -
;@E C REE YRR RS TS
i o

AEEMEESNEERREBES
BEEHEANERSEBMELE - KB
—E-_=F=A=+—0 Fx&£H
FEATEERBREFIBER - JH
RAEB K E 5 FEWRIARL6% K
85% (—E = —4F : 43% % 79% )
DRIREEAEENZEREZEBHA
FEKEBA -

SLIRTTHE BRI 5 - AT A TFTF
MRBERIF ZRITRSBEE
EERBRBEAR -

EHhERER-XSA TR CCEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model

The Group recognises loss allowance for ECLs on debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The Group applies
simplified approach to measure ECLs on trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets; and general
approach to measure ECLs on other receivables and
deposits and bank balances. Under the simplified approach,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. Under the general approach, the
Group applies the “3-stage” impairment model for ECLs
measurement based on change in credit risk since initial
recognition as follows:

— Stage 1: If the credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the financial instrument is
included in Stage 1.

— Stage 2: If the credit risk of the financial instrument
has increased significantly since its initial
recognition but is not deemed to be
credit-impaired, the financial instrument is
included in Stage 2.

— Stage 3: If the financial instrument is credit-impaired,
the financial instrument is included in Stage 3.

The ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 1 are measured
at an amount equivalent to 12-month ECLs whereas the
ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3 are
measured at an amount equivalent to lifetime ECLs.
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35. B & & b B B (m)
(a) GERE @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

When determining whether the risk of default has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
risk assessment and including forward-looking information.
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change in the debtors’
ability to meet their debt obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtors;

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the
payment status of debtors; and

e actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment in
which the debtors operate that results in a significant
change in the debtors’ ability to meet their debt
obligations.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

RERBHERRME (F)

5. i AMERE @®m

(a) GERE @
A EEEEER T E

(&)

RETENRRBVIGERRLES
BERINE - NEEZ SHE R E
FERABEZRALE HANA ERFH
BEXFHHEERN HBRERNAE
B &5 R ABEE R R
TENEUHER DN - BB
EUHEEH - EFEEERRE NS

HARANREEBRELZNE - SF5
EEATEHR :

. BHMEHEHARGEGE
E§2 ) 130 B A BB M0 2 7% -
B 5 o 48 7 AR o0 B IR oL
# 8 AT

« BEBAGEEENERLE
HEAEH

« EHABBMEARTANE
KEB - BIEEBAD KR
RED R

s BEBAKENEE  KBIK
MREEREXBHHBAEK
AN D T & BB A A BT
%S%iﬁ&ﬁ’ﬂﬁ%ﬁtﬂﬁﬁk

MeMEEDBH0R  AEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

The Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is considered as credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include
observable data about the following events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

(iii) granting a concession to the debtors that the lender
would not otherwise consider for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial
difficulty;

(iv) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(v) significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs under individual and collective assessment.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience
and time value of money where appropriate, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the customers and
the economic environment. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Re MK ERME (H)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. Bt I L B 3B ()
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERARE @)
Impairment under ECLs model (Continued) FEHEEESEDL N RE
(#&)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREIF AR KB R ®E R
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables, mMEEERBRNE S EKRAIE - &
retention receivables and contract assets at the end of the WRBEMAHEENTEHEEES
reporting period: BHER
Less: Carrying
Individual amount Weighted ECLs loss
Gross assessed under average allowance  Individually

carrying loss collective lifetime ~ for collective assessed loss ~ Total loss

As at 31 March 2023 amount allowance measurement ECLsrate measurement  allowance  allowance

BoEE  RERE  MEYN  REHE
A2 w8z RMRM  CBNGE EENRE

RZBZZE=f=1-H AFEE FERE FHE GEFEZ FERE 2FERE LEERG
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn FiEn Tin ThER TEn TEn
Trade receivables: BRRENE
Not yet past due and past due i3 ak)ali
within one year PR-E 85,785 - 85,785 1.3% 107 - 1,07
Past due for more than one year but ~ B#BE—E
within two years [EEFMER 2,944 - 2,944 4.3% 125 - 125
Past due for more than DERENE
two years 8,421 75 8,346 4.4% 364 75 439
97,150 15 97,075 1,566 75 1,641
Retention receivables EhRE2 104,270 - 104,270 27% 2,863 - 2,863
Contract assets ANEE 115,922 - 115,922 2.2% 2,519 - 2,519

Less: Carrying

Individual amount Weighted ECLs loss
Gross assessed under average allowance  Individually
amying loss collective lifetime  for collective  assessed loss Total loss
As at 31 March 2022 amount allowance  measurement EClsrate  measurement allowance allowance

HoEE BEER METY EEME
A2 87 RHEE  EEEE SENRM

RZE-ZEZB=t-8 EERE BEkE FAE G8BE% BERE FEEE  GEBAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEn Tin FEn TEL TEL

Not yet past due and past due g 3akiltal
within one year P-F 40,173 - 40173 14% 555 - 555

Past due for more than one yearbut ~ BERE—F

within two years BEMER 10,45 - 10,245 28% 282 - 28
Past due for more than two years AOREME 4,492 75 4417 34% 15 75 27
54,910 75 54,835 989 75 1,064
Retention recelvables EfR2S 84,599 - 84,599 24% 201 - 207
Contract assets ANEE 92,332 - 92,332 1.7% 1,599 - 1,599
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

ECLs rates are based on the past credit loss experience of
the customers or with reference to the industry data. These
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group's
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. Time value of money is considered in arriving at
the amount of ECLs, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the customers and economic environment.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were certain trade
receivables overdue more than 90 days. The Group assessed
the corresponding customers’ past due record, trading
history and credit rating (if any) to conclude that those
trade receivables overdue more than 90 days were not
default or credit impaired.

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits. The credit risk of the
Group’s other receivables and deposits at the end of the
reporting period has not increased significantly since initial
recognition. The Group has assessed that the amount of
ECLs was insignificant and accordingly, no loss allowance
was recognised.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rate. The Group's interest rate
risk mainly arises from bank deposits, lease liabilities and
bank borrowings. Financial instruments arranged at variable
rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

All of the Group’s lease liabilities bore interest at fixed

rates. Details of lease liabilities are disclosed in notes 22(a).

The Group's bank borrowings as at 31 March 2023 bore
interest at floating rate (note 23) and thus the Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group’s bank balances also expose it to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors of the
Company consider the Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk in respect of bank balances is not significant due to low
level of deposit interest rate.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management closely monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis demonstrates the Group’s
exposure to a reasonable possible change in interest
rates on its floating rate bank borrowings with all other
variables held constant at the end of the reporting period (in
practice, the results may differ from the sensitivity analysis
below and the difference could be material):

RERBHERRME (F)

35. B & A ke B B (m)
(b) F == k(&)

REE ZRITAERITEBITHERZ
BITmSMNERSM<EMERES
MEMNKER ARBEERRS
BN ERARKEE  AEEEH
RITBHRZNERARALFEK -

7N 5% B3R B I 4 R RN EUR - A
mEREETIERNERR R
BEFRER  BEZREIPEARN X
Rk o

R E D W

T3 SR 5 17 BB R A P L
BEFTEMERT  AEEMT
B % 48 1718 S0 5 W0 45 HD SR AL A
EARA BB HEYNAR (B
B bR AR TIREE AN
SATEFRHA - L AT R E AR
%) -

(Decrease)/Increase in
profit for the year and
retained profits

FREFRRERER
(R4,
2023 2022
—E-= —F=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET
Changes in interest rate ME2EH
+1% +1% (30) (3)
-1% -1% 30 3
Foreign currency risk (o) S mBS

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. The currencies giving rise to foreign
currency risk are primarily US$, Euro (“"EUR") and RMB.
Sales are mainly denominated in HK$ while some of the
purchases are denominated in US$, EUR and RMB. The
management monitors foreign currency exposure of the
Group and will consider undertaking foreign exchange
hedging activities to reduce the impact of foreign exchange
rate movements on the Group’s operating result.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table disclosed the carrying amounts of
the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities in net position at the end of the reporting period.
As HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus subject to minimal
currency risk, the relevant monetary assets and liabilities
are excluded from the following table.

35. B & & b B B (m)
(c) IMEE R Bz (@)

TREBEBAFEANESHED
8 B BRI R 2 B A - e
WIS R E T B E B R
MEREE BHESEERAR
FEER TR :

2023 2022
—E-=F T _F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET

Net monetary assets/(liabilities) EWEE(8F) 38
RMB AR (237) (485)
EUR BT (513) 20,849
The following table illustrates the approximate change TRERAEERHEERHREER

in the Group’s profit for the year and retained profits in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting periods.

TE0 % 25 K 3, B B0 9 BEE B =R 8y 5 72 7T
AE 2 8 1M B4 F R A S AR B s A A

(Decrease)/Increase in profit
for the year and retained

profits
FRRRRREEF
G2, %
2023 2022
—EZ=HF —E -

HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
RMB appreciated by 3% ANREETHE3% (6) (13)
EUR appreciated by 3% BT HHE3% (12) 522

The changes in exchange rates do not affect the Group’s
other component of equity. The same percentage
depreciation in the foreign currencies against the functional
currency of the respective group entities would have the
same magnitude on profit and retained profits but of
opposite effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting periods and had been applied
to each of the group entities, which had exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that
date, and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. The stated changes represented the
management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period until the next
annual reporting date.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
because exposure at the end of the reporting period does
not reflect the exposure during the respective year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in
respect of settlement of trade and other payables, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and its financing obligations,
and also in respect of its cash flow management.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term. The liquidity policy has been
followed by the Group since prior years and is considered
to have been effective in managing liquidity risks.

The following tables summarise the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities including
bank loans with repayment on demand clause, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or if floating, based on
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

RERBHERRME (F)

5. i AMERE @®m

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEHRRMET (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

35. B & & b B B (m)
(d) REE € &K (@

Specifically, for bank loans which contain repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised at bank’s sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on
the earliest period in which the Group can be required to
pay, that is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional
rights to call the loans with immediate effect. The maturity
analysis for other bank borrowings is prepared based on
the scheduled repayment dates.

BEBME  sARITA2RBETRE
MR B SREE G M IRITE R M
5 DTN B A g AR A
RPEHEMNRSREL - BOERA
TTEE BRI RN ERAEEEE
Ao EMIRITERWIH B SITR
BB EREHRY -

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted one year but less but less
amount cash flow orondemand than2years than5 years
EHEEE

£33 -5 BB-F BBmE
REE BERE HEER EIRME  EHIREF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER THER TER THER

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=5=ZR=+-H
Trade and other payables 25 REMEMNHE 122,239 122,239 118,204 998 3,037
Bank borrowings RITER 45,867 45,928 45,928 - -
Lease liabilities BEAR 8,899 9,194 5,678 2,532 984
177,005 177,361 169,810 3,530 4,021

As at 31 March 2022 R-B--£=H=1+-H
Trade and other payables 25 R E {0 3B 110,506 110,506 106,308 1334 2,864
Bank borrowing BITIER 2,539 2,539 2,539 - -
Lease liabilities BEAE 13,681 14,094 7,838 4,516 1,740
126,726 127,139 116,685 5,850 4,604

KPa-BM Holdings Limited
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements in this annual report and prior year financial
statements, is as follows:

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB E

AEESROAEAMBFENRENEENA
BEMERRA NFERHNEEZY B HRE LB
EFEMBHRE  HMT -

RESULTS E
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=E —E-C —E-—F —E-TF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER FiEL FHT TET FET
Revenue & 568,490 494,170 458,493 733,345 414,990
Cost of revenue W g P A (467,723) (433,457) (357,840) (623,640) (342,816)
Gross profit EF 100,767 60,713 100,653 109,705 72,174
Other income HieA 3,701 1,277 6,805 1,731 1,027
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment K & ¥ % 7 AFE
properties (B18),/ Wz (138) (246) 260 (778) 400
Loss on disposal of investment  HEREMEERE
properties - (388) - - -
(Provision)/reversal of loss BHEWFIEZ BEEE
allowance on (5112) /#E
trade receivables (577) (539) 224 - -
(Provision)/reversal of loss B REE 2 EREEE
allowance on (311R)/#®|
retention receivables (791) (493) 6 - -
Provision of loss allowance BNEEZEBRETIR
on contract assets (920) (169) (867) - -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  HRE K&K
plant and equipment 2 Wz - - - 4,287 -
Marketing and distribution MEHERD HRAX
eXpenses (1,996) (2,435) (3,537) (3,311) (3,265)
Administrative and other THBREMEEHRY
operating expenses (52,626) (41,936) (43,415) (46,638) (36,445)
Finance costs RBEA (2,119) (1,164) (934) (1,833) (634)
Profit before income tax BRATEHANER 45,301 14,620 59,195 63,163 33,257
Income tax expense FERRES (8,154) (3,115) (9,024) (9,410) (4,955)
Profit for the year FERER 37,147 11,505 50,171 53,753 28,302
Other comprehensive ERHb2EKkE
income for the year
Exchange differences arising ~ HMEBINERELH
from translation ENZE%
of foreign operations (1,176) 635 1,180 (808) (56)
Other comprehensive FErHEM2EKR
income for the year (1,176) 635 1,180 (808) (56)
Total comprehensive FR2HREAR
income for the year 35,971 12,140 51,351 52,945 28,246
EHhERER-XSA —EC-FEERE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
HHBHRE (&)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f %= S —Z-TF ZZ-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAT TAT TRET TAT
Total assets REE 497,976 402,126 431,393 433,938 327,974
Total liabilities BRE (234,184) (154,761) (163,168) (202,064) (139,445)
Net assets BEZE 263,792 247,365 268,225 231,874 188,529

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |
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